Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv



# Review

# Why humans kill animals and why we cannot avoid it



Benjamin L. Allen<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Christopher Bobier<sup>c</sup>, Stuart Dawson<sup>d,e</sup>, Peter J.S. Fleming<sup>a,f,g</sup>, Jordan Hampton<sup>d,h</sup> David Jachowski<sup>1</sup>, Graham I.H. Kerley<sup>b</sup>, John D.C. Linnell<sup>j,k</sup>, Kelly Marnewick<sup>1</sup>, Liaan Minnie<sup>b,m</sup>, Mike Muthersbaugh<sup>i</sup>, M. Justin O'Riain<sup>n</sup>, Dan Parker<sup>m</sup>, Gilbert Proulx<sup>o</sup>, Michael J. Somers<sup>p</sup>, Keifer Titus<sup>i</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Southern Oueensland. Institute for Life Sciences and the Environment. Toowoomba. Oueensland 4350. Australia

<sup>b</sup> Centre for African Conservation Ecology, Nelson Mandela University, Gqeberha 6034, South Africa

<sup>c</sup> Department of Theology and Philosophy, Saint Mary's University of Minnesota, Winona, MN, USA

- <sup>d</sup> Terrestrial Ecosystem Science and Sustainability, Harry Butler Institute, Murdoch University, Perth, Western Australia 6150, Australia
- <sup>e</sup> Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, South Perth, Western Australia 6151, Australia
- <sup>f</sup> Ecosystem Management, School of Environmental and Rural Science, University of New England, Armidale, New South Wales 2351, Australia
- <sup>8</sup> Vertebrate Pest Research Unit, New South Wales Department of Primary Industries, Orange Agricultural Institute, Orange, New South Wales 2800, Australia
- <sup>h</sup> Faculty of Veterinary and Agricultural Sciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville 3052, Victoria, Australia
- <sup>i</sup> Department of Forestry and Environmental Conservation, Clemson University, Clemson, SC, USA
- <sup>j</sup> Norwegian Institute of Nature Research, Vormstuguveien 40, 2624 Lillehammer, Norway
- <sup>k</sup> Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Department of Forestry and Wildlife Management, Anne Evenstads vei 80, NO-2480 Koppang, Norway
- <sup>1</sup> Department of Nature Conservation, Tshwane University of Technology, Pretoria 0001, South Africa
- <sup>m</sup> School of Biology and Environmental Sciences, University of Mpumalanga, Mbombela 1200, South Africa
- <sup>n</sup> Institute for Communities and Wildlife in Africa, Department of Biological Sciences, University of Cape Town, Upper Campus, Rondebosch 7700, South Africa
- ° Alpha Wildlife Research & Management Ltd, Sherwood Park, Alberta T8H 1W3, Canada
- <sup>p</sup> Mammal Research Institute, Centre for Invasion Biology, Department of Zoology and Entomology, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa

# HIGHLIGHTS

# GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- · Killing animals is a ubiquitous human behaviour, but is increasingly controversial.
- We review 10 reasons humans kill animals, and ecologically contextualise them.
- · Several forms of animal killing are a necessary component of human life on earth.
- Humans can modify some killing behaviours to improve the welfare of animals.
- A focus on welfare and sustainability can improve wild and domestic animal lives.

# ARTICLE INFO

Editor: Rafael Mateo Soria

Keywords: Animal ethics Conservation biology Culling Factory farming

Overview of the ten reasons why humans kill animals, and why animal killing cannot be avoided.



### ABSTRACT

Killing animals has been a ubiquitous human behaviour throughout history, yet it is becoming increasingly controversial and criticised in some parts of contemporary human society. Here we review 10 primary reasons why humans kill animals, discuss the necessity (or not) of these forms of killing, and describe the global ecological context for human killing of animals. Humans historically and currently kill animals either directly or indirectly for the following reasons: (1) wild harvest or food acquisition, (2) human health and safety, (3) agriculture and aquaculture, (4) urbanisation and industrialisation, (5) invasive, overabundant or nuisance wildlife control, (6) threatened species conservation, (7) recreation, sport or entertainment, (8) mercy or compassion, (9) cultural and religious practice, and (10) research,

\* Corresponding author at: University of Southern Queensland, Institute for Life Sciences and the Environment, Toowoomba, Queensland 4350, Australia. E-mail address: benjamin.allen@usq.edu.au (B.L. Allen).

#### http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.165283

Received 21 April 2023; Received in revised form 22 June 2023; Accepted 1 July 2023 Available online 3 July 2023

0048-9697/© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Lethal control Veganism education and testing. While the necessity of some forms of animal killing is debatable and further depends on individual values, we emphasise that several of these forms of animal killing are a necessary component of our inescapable involvement in a single, functioning, finite, global food web. We conclude that humans (and all other animals) cannot live in a way that does not require animal killing either directly or indirectly, but humans can modify some of these killing behaviours in ways that improve the welfare of animals while they are alive, or to reduce animal suffering whenever they must be killed. We encourage a constructive dialogue that (1) accepts and permits human participation in one enormous global food web dependent on animal killing and (2) focuses on animal welfare and environmental sustainability. Doing so will improve the lives of both wild and domestic animals to a greater extent than efforts to avoid, prohibit or vilify human animal-killing behaviour.

#### Contents

| 1.    | Introduction  | . 2 |
|-------|---|-----|
| 2.    | Ten reasons humans kill animals                       | . 3 |
|       | 2.1. Wild harvest, food acquisition                   | . 3 |
|       | 2.2. Human health and safety                          | . 3 |
|       | 2.3. Agriculture and aquaculture                      | . 4 |
|       | 2.4. Urbanisation and industrialisation               | . 5 |
|       | 2.5. Invasive and overabundant native animal control. | . 6 |
|       | 2.6. Threatened species conservation                  | . 6 |
|       | 2.7. Recreation, sport, entertainment                 | . 7 |
|       | 2.8. Mercy or compassion                              | . 7 |
|       | 2.9. Cultural and religious practice                  | . 7 |
|       | 2.10. Research, education, and testing                | . 8 |
| 3.    | Animal killing behaviour in context                   | . 9 |
| 4.    | Conclusions   | . 9 |
| Artic | cle impact statement                                  | 10  |
| CRe   | diT authorship contribution statement                 | 10  |
| Data  | a accessibility statement                             | 10  |
| Fund  | ding statement  | 10  |
| Data  | availability  | 10  |
| Decl  | aration of competing interest                         | 10  |
| Acki  | nowledgements   | 10  |
| Refe  |   | 10  |
| nun   | Autors  | 10  |

"All stories, if continued far enough, end in death, and he is no true-story teller who would keep that from you."

[Death in the afternoon, Ernest Hemingway.]

# 1. Introduction

The killing of animals by humans has been a ubiquitous practice throughout history, and this pattern continues in the present age. Countless animals are killed daily either for direct consumption or indirectly through competition for resources, and the nutrients released through this process ultimately find their way back into the environment. Ecology textbooks refer to this as the 'food chain' or 'food web' (e.g. Caughley and Sinclair, 1994; Barbosa and Castellanos, 2005; Krebs, 2008; Molles, 2012). Animal killing by humans and animals is ecologically ubiquitous, yet some sectors of contemporary human society condemn, criticise or oppose animal killing by humans, attempting to prevent or minimise human involvement in the single, functioning, finite, global food web. Some more extreme adherents have even suggested that non-human predators might also be prevented from killing their prey (Bramble, 2021).

Criticism of animal killing comes in many forms. Modern huntergatherers and subsistence farmers are criticised for killing wild animals to feed themselves or to protect what little crops they can produce (Salerno et al., 2020). Livestock producers are criticised for raising and then killing domestic livestock and the wild predators and competitors of their livestock (Gruen and Jones, 2015; Leroy and Praet, 2017). Crop producers face the same criticism when they kill animals during tilling, during harvest, or when they protect their crops from being eaten by other animals (Singleton et al., 2007). Conservationists are criticised for killing exotic, invasive or overabundant animals to protect native biodiversity (Wallach et al., 2020b). Hunters are criticised for killing animals for food, sport or pleasure (Dickson et al., 2009). Cultures and religions are criticised for killing animals and disregarding animal suffering during various rituals (Velarde et al., 2014). Researchers, scientists and educators are also criticised for performing dissections or experimenting on and killing animals in laboratories (Badyal and Desai, 2014) or for field-testing ecological hypotheses related to animal killing (Yanco et al., 2019). This widespread criticism of killing animals occurs at all scales; it is directed towards global food industries such as the beef, dairy, pork, poultry and egg industries (Blanchette, 2018), government agencies at all levels, including, for example, the United States Department of Agriculture (Bergstrom et al., 2014) or Australian state and local governments (Probyn-Rapsey and Lennox, 2022), and is even targeted towards specific individuals including fishermen, recreational hunters, and wildlife scientists (e.g. Nelson et al., 2016).

Support for this criticism arises from a variety of perspectives. For example, some have argued that animal killing by humans is 'immoral', 'unethical', 'irreligious', 'unjust', 'unacceptable', or just plain 'wrong' (e.g. Abbate and Fischer, 2019). Others claim that animal killing ignores 'animal personhood' and that animals should have rights equal to humans, that animal 'abuse', 'violence' or 'murder' is unacceptable and criminal (Francione, 2009; Lennox, 2017; Wallach et al., 2020a), and that many people have held and still hold this belief (Singer, 1975; Regan, 1983). Many people also view the act of animal killing as 'cruel' or 'harmful' regardless of how it is accomplished or how instantaneous or painless it might actually be, and hence advocate for only non-lethal practices or complete cessation of animal killing, ostensibly to stop animal suffering (Wallach et al., 2018). Others have argued that animal killing does not resolve some of the issues it aims to address and is therefore unnecessary (e.g. it does not stop

depredation of livestock or does not contribute to the conservation of endangered species; Bergstrom et al., 2014). Others have further argued that killing animals is an inefficient way to obtain nutrition and that animal killing will be reduced by seeking our life-sustaining nutrients from lower trophic levels (i.e. vegetarianism or veganism; Katz, 1998; Middleton, 2009).

We authors agree with many of these perspectives and do not attempt to address or dispute each of these claims or worldviews here. Rather, as valid, strongly held, and important as these differing views might be, we consider them largely tangential to an ecological perspective on animal killing by humans and our undeniable role at the apex of the global food web. The philosophical, medical, veterinary, husbandry, and ecological literature is replete with robust debate on the acceptability of killing various animals in diverse circumstances, and it is clear that many people support or accept animal killing in one way or another while some others oppose it (e.g. Singer, 1975; Regan, 1983; Lehman, 1988; Miller, 2012; Deckers, 2016; Inglis, 2016; Nelson et al., 2016; Fischer, 2019; Lamey, 2019; Lecerf, 2020; Bobier and Allen, 2022a). However, we have observed that much of the 'for vs. against' multidisciplinary literature on this subject typically fails to put contemporary animal killing behaviour by humans into an evolutionary or ecological context, and an explanation for why humans kill animals and why we cannot avoid it has not been well articulated. Humans do not live independently of other species. We are an inescapable part of the global food web and our action, inaction, and mere presence on Earth has diverse consequences for animal life (Steffen et al., 2007). The disciplines of anthropology, archaeology, climate change, ecology, evolutionary biology, religious studies, philosophy and ethics, taxonomy and others implicitly attest to the interconnectedness of humans with other living organisms. We consider this a self-evident fact that should be understood by, or at least understandable for, most people.

Here we provide a brief overview of 10 primary reasons or categories of reasons why humans kill animals, or 10 primary forms of human animalkilling behaviour. Our broad definition of killing includes the intentional and unintentional actions and inactions of humans that directly or indirectly cause animal death, because any alternative or more restricted definition would knowingly omit important modes of human animal-killing behaviour (for further discussion, see McMahan, 2002; Singer, 2015). Animal killing is also multifunctional (Fischer et al., 2013). Thus, the 10 reasons we describe are non-exclusive and overlap in many cases, some may also be considered to fall into multiple categories, and our stated categories might also be reorganised in an alternative variety of acceptable ways. Though our rationale might apply to many types of animals, we focus our discussion on vertebrate animals which are almost universally recognised as being sentient. We argue that killing such animals is an unavoidable component of human life on Earth that might be reduced in some cases but is impossible to eliminate. We further argue that ethical debate over 'whether-or-not' to kill animals is unhelpful, and that a critical analysis of 'when' and 'how' to kill animals is much more relevant and consequential to improving animal lives. We encourage a future focus on animal welfare and the ecological sustainability of our animal killing behaviours, rather than focussing on binary ethical or philosophical issues like 'killing or not killing' or 'lethal or non-lethal' animal management. Although human dimensions - including worldviews, values, perceptions, attitudes, motivations, emotions and behaviours - are important drivers of why humans kill or do not kill animals, our primary aim was not to systematically review the sociological or psychological literature on anthopogenic reasonings for killing animals. Rather, our aim is to ecologically contextualise animal killing behaviour by humans, describe some of the implications of this for contemporary debates about animal ethics, and so provide a resource for those engaging in discussions about the permissibility and acceptability of killing animals. Our intended outcome is to redirect some of the philosophical and ethical debates away from intractable tensions between fundamentally different and somewhat theoretical worldviews towards applied issues that have a greater capacity to collectively improve the lives of both animals and people.

#### 2. Ten reasons humans kill animals

# 2.1. Wild harvest, food acquisition

Many omnivorous and carnivorous predators, from insects to whales, hunt and kill wild animals for food. This behaviour is known as predation, and is a process integral to the proper functioning and maintenance of ecosystems (Molles, 2012; Smith and Smith, 2015). Predation can, and often does, cause great harm and suffering to the individual animal being killed (Allen et al., 2019). Some predators are specialists that target a narrow range of prey species, and others are generalists that target a wider range of prey species (Carbone et al., 1999, 2007). Humans, and their ancestors and relatives, are generalist, omnivorous mammals that have hunted, killed and harvested a wide variety of animals for approximately 2-4 million years (Faurby et al., 2020). Wild harvest is the most ancient form of predation by humans. Moreover, the evolution of humans' proportionately larger brain size is hypothesized to have occurred because of the fats and proteins acquired by eating animals, and therefore killing and eating animals was essential for the very emergence of humans (Mann, 2018; Leroy et al., 2023). Humans on or in the waters around all continents still harvest wild animals for food today, including people from developed and developing countries and those practicing traditional and contemporary lifestyles (e.g. Harris and Shilai, 1997; Dawson, 2018; El Bizri et al., 2020).

Many types of sentient and non-sentient animals are harvested, including echinoderms, molluscs, crustaceans, insects, fish, reptiles, birds and mammals (Heywood, 2013). Wild harvest of mammals, reptiles and birds is often characterised by low-volume or opportunistic hunting, such as the acquisition of bushmeat (Dawson, 2018; Haq et al., 2020). Other forms of high-volume or intensive harvesting are also practiced, such as the many fisheries in operation around the world (Pauly, 2016) or the commercial kangaroo (*Osphranter* spp., *Macropus* spp.) harvest in Australia (Pople and Grigg, 1999; Wilson and Edwards, 2019). Wild harvest of animals cannot be practiced without killing animals.

Wild harvest, predation, or directly killing animals for food can be avoided by adopting plant-based lifestyles (e.g. herbivory, or veganism), but doing so cannot avoid all the indirect forms of animal killing associated with such lifestyles (Hall and Tolhurst, 2007; Wills, 2019; Bobier, 2020; see also Sections 2.3 and 2.4). This type of indirect killing is known as competition, which can also lead to prolonged animal suffering, death and eventual extinction over time (e.g. Robin et al., 2009; Wilson and Edwards, 2019; see also Molles, 2012; Smith and Smith, 2015). Herbivory leads to competition-induced animal killing when humans eat plants that would otherwise be utilised by other animals, i.e. exploitative competition (Burrows et al., 2018). Competition-induced animal killing also occurs when fear effects behaviourally deprive animals of otherwise available resources (e.g. Clinchy et al., 2016; Suraci et al., 2019), i.e. interference competition. Hence, the wild harvest of both animals and plants results in animal killing; the primary difference is that one is direct killing and the other is indirect killing (Fig. 1). Human carnivory and herbivory are forms of wild harvest that are ubiquitous across trophic levels, ecosystems and epochs (Barbosa and Castellanos, 2005; Molles, 2012; Smith and Smith, 2015). All forms of wild harvest cause harm to animals, and there are no viable alternatives to these forms of animal killing if we are to continue feeding the approximately 8,000,000,000 humans on the planet (Hampton et al., 2021). Directly killing animals for food can often be done in ways that cause no or negligible amounts of pain or harm (Sharp and Saunders, 2011; Hampton et al., 2015a; Fig. 2). When done in these ways it can give animals a more humane or painless death than the alternatives they would otherwise experience from large-scale plant- or animalbased agriculture (Demetriou and Fischer, 2018) or through natural causes such as disease, starvation, or intraspecific fighting.

# 2.2. Human health and safety

Killing animals in self-defence or to protect human health and safety is also one of the most ancient forms of animal killing by humans. It is done B.L. Allen et al.



**Fig. 1.** Three ecological mechanisms of animal killing behaviour by humans, showing (1) predation (e.g. carnivory or meat-based diets), (2) interference competition (e.g. when animals are behaviourally deprived of access to shared resources, or fear effects), and (3) exploitative competition (e.g. herbivory or plant-based diets, or consumption of shared resources). Solid lines = direct effects, broken lines = indirect effects.

proactively when an animal is killed to prevent a possible threat or reactively to eliminate a present threat. Examples of proactively killing animals for human health and safety reasons include killing large carnivores (e.g. lions Panthera leo, saltwater crocodiles Crocodylus porosus, or great white sharks Carcharodon carcharias) in the vicinity of human settlements (e.g. Ferretti et al., 2015), or controlling populations of smaller mammals (such as racoons Procyon lotor, feral dogs Canis familiaris, or black rats Rattus rattus) to prevent the spread of zoonoses including rabies or leptospirosis (Witmer and Proulx, 2010; Rosatte, 2013). Reactive killing for human health and safety reasons occurs when any animal attempts to harm or kill a human and the humans kill the animal in self-defence. Examples include killing Asian elephants Elephas maximus (Fernando, 2015), cougars Puma concolor (Thornton and Quinn, 2009), or eastern brown snakes Pseudonaja textilis (Whitaker and Shine, 2000) that had attacked humans. Killing animals for traditional medicinal use is another expression of killing for human health reasons practiced in many parts of the world (Loveridge et al., 2017; Haq et al., 2020), and the raising and killing of geneticallymodified pigs Sus scrofa to provide a source of replacement organs for xenotransplantation into humans represents an emerging form of killing animals for human health reasons (Montgomery et al., 2022). Proactive and reactive forms of animal killing (such as control of rodents in impoverished neighbourhoods) may also improve human mental health and wellbeing by reducing anxiety over both food security and disease risk (e.g. Shah et al., 2018; Byers et al., 2019).

In many, or perhaps most, cases there may be less harmful or even nonlethal ways to eliminate human health and safety risks from animals, which Science of the Total Environment 896 (2023) 165283

might eliminate the need to kill animals, especially contemporary proactive forms of animal killing (see Sections 2.3 and 2.5). This could include vaccinating animals (Gilbert et al., 2018a) and humans (Kessels et al., 2017) against zoonoses, installing animal exclusion fencing around human communities (Yamazaki and Bwalya, 1999), sealing buildings and grain silos to exclude grain-destroying birds and rodents (Mullen and Pedersen, 2000), or managing risk-enhancing human behaviours (Penteriani et al., 2016). It might also be possible to reduce the need for reactive forms of animal killing by increasing tolerance of perceived threats, or by taking appropriate measures to prevent an incident or animal attack from arising, including avoidance of areas with high densities of large carnivores or other dangerous animals (Gurung et al., 2008; Fukuda et al., 2014; Behrendorff, 2021). Such non-lethal practices might also include maintaining strong biosecurity systems to prevent zoonotic diseases or their animal vectors from invading new areas (see Section 2.5), chasing or relocating dangerous animals away from vulnerable humans (Appleby et al., 2017), or adoption of plant-based traditional medicines or modern manufactured medicines rather than animal-based traditional medicines where culturally appropriate. Refraining from killing animals to protect human health and safety might be possible for some humans to avoid, particularly those in affluent circumstances; but because of human inequality and poverty across much of the world, refraining from this form of animal killing will be largely impossible at broader societal scales without compromising human welfare, ignoring cultural sensitivities, and losing human lives.

# 2.3. Agriculture and aquaculture

Agriculture and aquaculture are associated with the most globally prevalent forms of animal killing (e.g. Gilbert et al., 2018b). Agriculture has been practiced by humans for at least 11,000 years and enabled humans to establish themselves as the dominant vertebrate on Earth (Diamond, 1999). Agriculture includes the production and protection of both plants and animals in both small (i.e. subsistence farming) and large (i.e. commercial farming) quantities (Hampton et al., 2021). Agriculture and aquaculture are forms of optimal foraging behaviour, whereby animals and humans obtain food resources in ways that minimise risk and optimize energy expenditure (Brown et al., 1999). These practices are also analogous to caching behaviour or food storage given that a live animal can convert biomass inedible to humans into edible protein that can be consumed later at times of seasonal shortage of other plant-based foods. Humans farm and kill a wide variety of mammals (e.g. domestic cattle Bos taurus, sheep Ovis aries, goats Capra hircus and pigs), birds (e.g. domestic chickens Gallus gallus, ducks Anas platyrhynchos, geese Anser anser, turkeys Meleagris gallopavo, pigeons Columba livia and ostriches Struthio camelus), fish (e.g. Atlantic salmon Salmo salar, common carp Cyprinus carpio, and bluefin tuna Thunnus thynnus) and other animals (e.g. prawns, oysters, or turtles such as Chelodina rugosa) for their meat. Animals are also farmed and killed for other reasons, such as obtaining milk and eggs (e.g. killing male dairy cattle or male egg-breed chickens) or feathers, fur, skins or leather (e.g. ostriches, crocodilians, or American mink Neovison vison).

Beyond the direct killing and use of farmed animals for food or fibre, wild predators and competitors of farmed animals and plants negatively affect the production of farmed species in many cases and are also intentionally killed to mitigate the agricultural production losses they would otherwise cause (Allen and West, 2013; Wills, 2019; Cabral de Mel et al., 2022). Examples include the killing of canids, felids or mustelids to mitigate their predation on farmed animals (e.g. Thorn et al., 2013), or the killing of ungulates, macropods, birds or rodents to mitigate their competition for farmed plants (e.g. Flores, 2016; Clark et al., 2018; du Plessis et al., 2018; Somers et al., 2018). Other examples include killing infected domestic and wild animals to stem disease outbreaks that could harm and kill vast numbers of livestock and wild animals (e.g. biosecurity activities). Such diseases include foot-and-mouth disease, rabies, tuberculosis, anthrax, avian influenza, African swine fever, and many others (e.g. Griffin and O'Reilly, 2003; Wolfe et al., 2004; Rosatte, 2013; Nugent et al., 2015; Arruda et al., 2020). Indirect killing occurs when non-target animals die from accidental



**Fig. 2.** Examples of direct and indirect animal killing by humans, showing: (A) two springbok *Antidorcas marsupialis* wild-harvested for meat in South Africa (Section 2.1); (B) land clearing for peanut *Arachis hypogaea* and sugar cane *Saccharum* spp. crops in Australia, including a feral pig *Sus scrofa* shot to alleviate damage to the crops (Section 2.3); (C) small-scale urbanisation illustrated by a group of rondevals under trees in Botswana (Section 2.4); and (D) a feral cat *Felis catus* trapped in Australia to protect threatened fauna from cat predation (Sections 2.5 and 2.6). Photo credits: Benjamin Allen.

poisoning associated with use of the drugs, pesticides and herbicides used to protect animals and plants (e.g. Stutterheim, 1982; Oaks et al., 2004) or as bycatch in traps intended for damage-causing animals.

Although it is not often viewed as a source of animal killing, the establishment and harvesting of crops (e.g. land clearing, tilling) required and still requires the direct and indirect killing and displacement of animals (i.e. interference competition) at enormous scales, as does the protection of crops following establishment (Wills, 2019; Hampton et al., 2021; Fig. 2; see also Section 2.4). For example, red-billed quelea (Quelea quelea) are killed in their millions to protect grain crops (McWilliam and Cheke, 2004). Demand for soybeans (Glycine max) and palm oil (Elaeis guineensis) has also been a major driver of deforestation in South America and Southeast Asia, causing the displacement and death of innumerable animals through the destruction of the natural habitat they relied on (Weinhold et al., 2013; Frey et al., 2018). Many, but not all of such crops or their byproducts might also be used for industrial non-food purposes like biofuels or livestock feeds (Ray et al., 2022). Approximately one-third of crops grown across the world also require animal manure for fertilisation, which inherently requires livestock farming to accumulate manure for later dispersal, causing consequent displacement and death of other animals (e.g. Mkhabela, 2006).

Whether animals are killed to be eaten or worn, or because almost all animals have been eliminated from land where we now grow biofuel crops or food crops for ourselves or our livestock (Chaudhary et al., 2016; see also https://ourworldindata.org/soy), animal killing is an indisputable and unavoidable component of both the plant and animal food production systems that support human life (Hampton et al., 2021; Croney and Swanson, 2023). Engaging in animal and plant agriculture and aquaculture in this way enables a greater amount of food to be obtained for humans than would otherwise be attainable through wild harvest (Section 2.1). It is, of course, possible to produce livestock and crops in ways that minimise both the direct and indirect impacts on wild animal lives (e.g. du Plessis et al., 2018; Allen and Hampton, 2020), but generating food on such large scales to feed a large and growing global human population is impossible without killing animals (Allen and West, 2013; Tank and Thiele, 2019). Killing animals for agriculture is a critical human food security endeavour (e.g. Singleton et al., 2010; Salerno et al., 2020; Croney and Swanson, 2023), and many humans will die if humans do not kill animals to produce and protect animal-based and plant-based agriculture and aquaculture.

# 2.4. Urbanisation and industrialisation

Perhaps the most universal form of animal killing occurs when humans construct houses, factories, mines, power stations, roads, railways, and other industries and infrastructure needed to support sedentary human populations. In ecological terms, urbanisation might be better thought of as mass, irreversible habitat destruction that has resulted in some of the highest rates of decline and local extinction of a range of fauna worldwide (Czech et al., 2000; McKinney, 2002; Skead, 2007). Urbanisation thus kills animals in ways similar to intensive agriculture (Section 2.3), which is intrinsically linked to feeding a rapidly urbanising human population. Furthermore, because urban areas are typically situated in places that were once biodiversity hotspots (Cincotta et al., 2000), the impacts on flora and fauna are more severe for urbanisation than for most other human activities.

Urbanisation represents competition for the critical resource of space and results in the killing and expulsion of countless other animals whenever it occurs at either large or small scales. For example, koalas (Phascolarctos cinereus) are arboreal dietary specialists distributed along the entire east coast of Australia, where most of the Australian human population lives in multiple cities. Within just a 10 year period, the national conservation status of koalas has deteriorated from being unlisted, to listed as vulnerable in 2012, and then to endangered in 2022, almost exclusively through the ongoing direct and indirect effects of urbanisation - vehicle collisions and tree clearing, or removing both the food and refuge of this iconic species (Dique et al., 2003; McAlpine et al., 2015). Though far smaller in scale, the establishment of rondavels under trees in the Okavango Delta of Botswana similarly displaces the wild animals that would otherwise live there (Fig. 2). Thus, every living human on the planet contributes to the displacement and death of animals in this way and/or has and is benefitting from the proceeds of such animal killing in the past (Sections 2.1-2.3 and 2.5-2.10).

Continued animal killing through urbanisation seems inevitable so long as global human population growth remains positive and the current trend of migration towards urban nodes continues. Directly killing medium- and large-sized animals may be avoidable when construction is undertaken carefully and affected individual animals are captured and translocated. However, the subsequent displacement and indirect forms of animal killing (e.g. lack of food, exposure to predation, diseases or pollutants) associated with urbanisation are largely unavoidable. The number of animals killed in this way may be reduced to some degree when urbanisation is directed upwards and not outwards or when water and waste are recycled sustainably. However, increasing human populations will still place ever increasing demands on natural resources and the associated industry and infrastructure required to support sedentary populations, which are almost always permanent.

# 2.5. Invasive and overabundant native animal control

Killing exotic, non-native, extralimital, or overabundant native animals is practiced widely. However, the motivation for this type of killing is distinct from other forms of animal killing. Animals might be killed by humans simply because they are exotic or 'not from here' (van Eeden et al., 2020), but they are usually killed because their invasive characteristics and traits (Elton, 1958) raise concern that they will cause subsequent issues that will require further and otherwise avoidable animal killing (Fleming et al., 2017; Callen et al., 2020). These concerns include the protection of human health and safety (Section 2.2), agricultural production (Section 2.3), threatened species protection (Section 2.6), or the prevention of ecosystem collapse or shifts characterised by the mass killing and loss of many local animals. Many invasive and overabundant animals create real and perceived undesirable impacts on the environment, human economies, and on social or cultural values (e.g. Witmer and Proulx, 2010; Castorani and Hovel, 2015; Doherty et al., 2016; Fleming et al., 2017; Diagne et al., 2021). These impacts include the harm, killing and death of relatively large numbers of other animals that could otherwise be alleviated and avoided by killing relatively small numbers of invasive and overabundant native animals (e.g. Heriot et al., 2019; Allen and Hampton, 2020; Raine et al., 2020). Killing invasive animals typically aims to prevent, for example, any potential negative impacts on agriculture, native species, wilderness areas, or human health.

Directly (Russell et al., 2016) and indirectly (Zavaleta et al., 2001) killing invasive and overabundant species may be avoidable, but doing so will often yield unavoidable adverse consequences for both humans and animals. Though it may sometimes be possible to undertake invasive animal control in ostensibly non-lethal ways, such as trap-neuter-release or translocation, these practices are often ineffective and typically cause greater harm to animals than simply killing them (Sharp and Saunders, 2011; Hampton et al., 2015b; Hampton et al., 2017). Attempted 'non-lethal' exclusion of invasive animals by creating landscapes of fear can create serious animal welfare issues, in addition to indirect killing (Brown et al., 1999; Creel, 2018; Allen et al., 2019). So, while restoring ecosystems through restoration of native carnivores and herbivores might 'naturally' eliminate invasive and overabundant animals (Soulé and Noss, 1998; Funk et al., 2008), this does not evade animal killing given subsequent predation and competition; it merely outsources animal killing from humans to animals or other ecological processes (e.g. predation, starvation, disease). Sometimes it is simply impossible to remove all invading animals without killing at least some of them (Fleming and Ballard, 2019). Humans do not need to kill or exclude invasive or overabundant invasive animals like they need to eat or protect themselves (see Sections 2.1-2.3), but past experience indicates that allowing invasive and overabundant native animal populations to grow unchecked usually results in ecosystem degradation, including widespread harm and death to many other animals (Hayward et al., 2019; Wilson and Edwards, 2019; Callen et al., 2020; Diagne et al., 2021) and to the agricultural products that humans rely on for food (Paini et al., 2016; Section 2.3).

# 2.6. Threatened species conservation

Killing one animal to save another more threatened or less abundant animal is largely an altruistic act, though humans might derive some aesthetic benefit from retaining only native species in a given location (Section 2.5). Killing animals (either native or non-native) to protect threatened species is also common across continents. Non-native examples include killing feral cats Felis catus, brushtail possums Trichosurus vulpecula, or stoats Mustela erminia to protect small mammals and ground-nesting birds in Australia and New Zealand (Morgan et al., 2006; Read, 2019; Fig. 2), killing grey squirrels Sciurus carolinensis to protect red squirrels Sciurus vulgaris in Europe (Bertolino and Genovesi, 2003), killing camels Camelus dromedarius to protect the water sources used by native animals in Australia (Knight, 2018), or killing rodents to protect seabirds or endangered endemic rodents on oceanic islands (Raine et al., 2020; Jones et al., 2021). Native examples include killing dingoes Canis familiaris to protect rufous hare-wallabies Lagorchestes hirsutus in Australia (Gibson et al., 1995), or killing barred owls Strix varia to protect spotted owls Strix occidentalis in North America (Livezey, 2010). Many examples of this form of killing involve killing predators to alleviate their impacts on prey. Additional examples include killing common herbivores to alleviate competition with threatened herbivores (Sharp et al., 1999) or killing herbivores to reduce their impacts on threatened plants (McAlpine et al., 2015; Drijfhout et al., 2020; Allen et al., 2021). Population control (i.e. killing) of various carnivore and herbivore species is also required in smaller protected areas to ensure that overutilization of resources (either plants or animals) by one or more species does not cause the death and decline of others (Miller and Funston, 2014).

This type of animal killing may be a necessary (Fleming and Ballard, 2019), temporary solution when abundant vertebrates pose an immediate threat to the survival of a rare species (Goodrich and Buskirk, 1995) given that killing relatively few animals in the short term can reduce the overall numbers of animals killed in the long term (Warburton et al., 2012; Allen and Hampton, 2020). However, the repeated killing of common animals to save endangered ones may produce several adverse outcomes, including the high cost of population control, ecosystem changes that favour increases of other harmful species, or increases of diseases harmful to the endangered species (Goodrich and Buskirk, 1995). Habitat rehabilitation and restoration programs may be better solutions to problems caused by abundant native animal species because community and ecosystem degradation are the ultimate causal factors responsible for some species becoming rare and others becoming abundant (e.g. Allen, 2011; Stobo-Wilson et al., 2020). These solutions are long-term,

biologically sound, and involve little direct human intervention into ecosystem processes (Goodrich and Buskirk, 1995; Proulx and Powell, 2016). Thus, humans do not need to kill animals to save other animals, but abstaining would knowingly magnify the number of individual animals killed and condemn entire species to extinction in some cases.

#### 2.7. Recreation, sport, entertainment

Recreational hunting and fishing, or killing animals for sport or entertainment, is a particularly contentious form of animal killing by humans (Cohen, 2014; Darimont et al., 2017; Batavia et al., 2019; see also Nelson et al., 2016). This practice is also distinguished from other types of animal killing by its motivation. For example, recreational hunting and fishing do not always result in consuming the animal, but when it does, this behaviour might be better classified as wild harvest (Section 2.1). Here, we define recreational killing as being purely for entertainment, sport, or pleasure, including collecting trophies, achieving personal goals (e.g. catching a large fish), facilitating gambling, or keeping pet animals.

This type of animal killing by humans evolved out of necessity to acquire food and protect life or property (see Sections 2.1–2.4), and the behaviour further developed as a rite of passage, or a demonstration of personal skill or work ethic also associated with mate acquisition (Hawkes and Bliege Bird, 2002; Darimont et al., 2017). However, continued cultural evolution in many human societies has meant that recreational hunting is now undertaken as a largely symbolic gesture or pleasurable use of time. Alternatively, recreational hunting might be interpreted as a righteously defiant (i.e. defiant of moral arguments that discourage recreational hunting) ritual resembling animal sacrifice in the religious sphere (Cohen, 2014; see also Section 2.9).

There are countless examples of recreational killing by humans - virtually any animal with horns, large teeth or tusks, or attractive fur or feathers has been, or is still, hunted for sport. High-profile examples include red fox hunting in England (Marvin, 2000) or lion hunting in southern Africa (Macdonald et al., 2016). Lesser known examples include live-baiting with rabbits Oryctolagus cuniculus to train greyhound dogs (Hampton et al., 2020). Many wild animals are also killed to feed the billions of pet animals (i.e. cats and dogs) kept by humans for pleasure. For example, 13.5 % of the total 39 million tonnes of wild caught fish is used to support the pet food industry (De Silva and Turchini, 2008). Cock, dog and bull fighting are other forms of recreational animal killing (e.g. María et al., 2017); and in the case of bull fighting, is also a legally-protected cultural heritage activity (Section 2.9). Death of the animal is the intended goal or at least an unavoidable outcome of recreational killing in many cases (e.g. to acquire a trophy). Yet some forms of such recreation do not require killing, including the catch-and-release practices common to fishermen (Cooke and Schramm, 2007) or the type of no-kill trophy hunting proposed by Cove (2019). These practices cause some harm to animals, which might inadvertently die on occasion, but they do not necessarily demand animal killing. Such non-consumptive activities still require skills used in recreational hunting, such as wildlife photography, bird watching, or snow tracking, and might therefore be as personally rewarding as killing the animal in some cases (Cove, 2019). Many forms of recreational killing may be avoidable. However, without alternative revenue streams, cessation of these practices will indirectly result in the death of many animals given that wildlife conservation efforts in many parts of the world are directly funded through recreational killing activities (e.g. Lindsey et al., 2007; Heffelfinger et al., 2013; Baxter et al., 2018; Clark et al., 2023). Recreational hunting may also contribute to wildlife conservation through the suppression of overabundant game species (Williams et al., 2013; Gortázar and Fernandez-de-Simon, 2022; Section 2.5).

# 2.8. Mercy or compassion

Humans frequently kill animals out of mercy or for compassionate reasons. For example, humans will often have a beloved pet dog or cat killed by a veterinarian (i.e. euthanized) to avoid continued suffering when the pet becomes old or ill. Various wildlife species injured in predation attempts, road collisions or other accidents are also euthanized to prevent the inevitable suffering and likely death that will occur if the animal is left in the vain hope it will later recover (e.g. Allen et al., 2015). Euthanasia may also be appropriate for wildlife casualties that are a danger to other animals or humans. In some circumstances involving a flock, herd or group problem (i.e. a disease outbreak), euthanasia of a small number of ill animals may also be required to provide a diagnosis allowing appropriate treatment of the remainder of the flock, herd or group. Healthy animals in zoos or fenced reserves might also be killed because they are surplus to requirements (e.g. genetically similar individuals might lead to inbreeding and compromise breeding programs), or to prevent them from being killed by other animals or ecological processes given a lack of space to accommodate them (Miller and Funston, 2014; see also Section 2.6). A variety of other, more nuanced reasons might further necessitate mercy killing, especially in veterinary care settings (e.g. DES, 2013, pp. 16-17).

Unlike wild harvest (Section 2.1), agriculture (Section 2.3) or urbanisation (Section 2.4), where killing is unavoidable, compassionate killing or mercy killing is easily avoidable by 'doing nothing' (Bobier and Allen, 2022b). Debilitated animals might even be kept intentionally alive with palliative care to facilitate the generation of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), which are useful for developing therapeutic applications for captive animals that suffer from degenerative diseases or for preserving the genomes of individuals for later use in genetic rescue efforts (Ben-Nun et al., 2011; Comizzoli, 2017; Honda et al., 2017; see also Section 2.6). However, suffering animals with a poor prognosis for survival are typically euthanized rather than left to die more slowly because inaction causes preventable harm to animals, and failure to kill the animal can be a punishable breach of animal welfare law in some countries (DES, 2013; Rioja-Lang et al., 2020). This interplay between animal ethics and animal welfare means that in cases of mercy killing, humans must choose to shorten suffering and kill the animal or avoid killing the animal and prolong suffering (Bobier and Allen, 2022b). The moral acceptability of mercy or compassionate killing is grounded in the understanding that killing the animal results in less harm than allowing the animal to live - a 'good death' is seen as a more desirable alternative to a 'bad life' when a 'good life' is not possible (Nobis, 2019).

# 2.9. Cultural and religious practice

Buddhism, Islam, Hinduism, Judaism, and Christianity – indeed almost all the world's major religions and cultures permit the killing of various animals for the purpose of eating meat (Sections 2.1 and 2.3). Cultural practices around the world also sanction animal killing for non-consumptive purposes, including religious animal sacrifices to a deity or god (Zoethout, 2013). Animals sacrificed to a deity may or may not be subsequently eaten.

Although 'life is dear to all' in Buddhism, where the precept 'one should not kill nor cause others to kill' is sometimes applied through strict vegetarianism (Buddharakkhita, 1985), meat-eating is still commonplace in most Buddhist societies. Other branches of Buddhism permit what might be described as 'scavenging' when the meat is available or offered rather than intentionally killed (Barstow, 2019). The sacrifice of sheep, goats, cows, camels and sometimes yaks Bos grunniens and banteng Bos javanicus is commonly practiced in Islamic communities around the world in association with the celebration of the Eid al-Adha (i.e. 'feast of sacrifice', 'great feast', 'sacrifice feast', or 'goat feast') during the Hajj or pilgrimage (Roy, 2005). In Indonesia alone, approximately 800,000 goats were sacrificed during the festival in 2014 (Anon., 2015). About 2.5 million sheep, cows and goats are sacrificed during this festival in Turkey each year, and about 10 million in Pakistan (Zaidi and Chen, 2011). Muslims also perform animal sacrifices on other religious occasions (Roy, 2005). Animal sacrifice is also widespread in polytheistic Hindu cultures, where various traditions sacrifice animals to a variety of deities, especially in India and Nepal, where mainly goats, buffaloes Bubalus bubalis and chickens are killed (Raj, 2004). Pacific Island cultures also sacrifice animals. For example,

chickens or goats are sacrificed to wanamo (a half-man half-dog spirit that protects the forest) in the Bundi region of Papua New Guinea to secure safe passage through the forest for people that do not belong to the local indigenous tribe (B. Allen, personal observations). Animal sacrifice is also common in many African cultures, such as the Isese or Yoruba religion found in West Africa and the Afro-American religions of the Caribbean (e.g. Ozioma and Chinwe, 2019).

Animal sacrifices were practiced extensively in ancient Jewish, Christian and other monotheistic cultures of the Near East and beyond in Europe and North Africa. For ancient Jews and Christians, the practice was originally designed to teach about the future sacrifice of the Messiah or Jesus Christ, which then understandably ceased following Jesus' crucifixion circa 33 CE when the sacrament or communion (i.e. broken bread and wine) was instead instituted to remember Jesus' sacrifice. A small number of contemporary Christian denominations in Europe, northern Africa, and Mexico still practice a restricted form of animal sacrifice today, killing sheep, chickens or pigeons (e.g. Shepard, 2011; Siekierski, 2013). With a history deeply rooted in Judeo-Christian values (Shapiro, 2016), most contemporary western cultures do not exhibit animal sacrifice traditions. Nevertheless, landmark cases brought to the Supreme Court of the United States of America (USA) may permit the practice of ritual animal killing in the USA under their constitutional provision of religious freedom (Holzer, 1995) - a freedom not supported in Europe (Zoethout, 2013).

These examples illustrate the widespread use of animal sacrifice in ancient and modern cultures in all areas of the world and the diverse expression of the practice across different communities. However, animals are also ritually killed for reasons other than worshipping a deity (Ruel, 1990). For many, the animal sacrifice is itself constitutive of interspecies kin relations, and the spectacular act of violence at the heart of the sacrifice (e.g. the beheading of the sacrificial animal) is crucial to the constitution of kin solidarity between the human sacrificer and animal victim (Govindrajan, 2015). Not all cultural killing of animals is for religious reasons or involves sacrifice (McCorquodale, 1997). Feasts, where special foods such as 'the fatted calf' or unusual quantities of food are served, can be for socio-political purposes, without sacrifice but accompanied by rituals associated with the killing of the animals to serve at the feast (Dietler, 2001). Exotic cooked flesh can be used to welcome or impress guests, establish or maintain prestige, power or face, or accompany initiations into a society (Hayden, 2014). Gatherings of people to benefit from super-abundances of food, such as migratory or seasonally abundant animals (e.g. fish migrations; see also Section 2.1), are often culturally linked to phenological signals and associated ceremonies. For example, ceremonies of food availability, harvesting and use prescriptions were, and are, ritually enacted and celebrated by First Nations peoples in Canada and Australia (e.g. Lantz and Turner, 2003; Fordham et al., 2006) and batharvesting festivals are annually celebrated in north-east India (Low et al., 2021).

It might be argued that humans do not need to kill animals for purely cultural or religious reasons, and there are indeed some noteworthy examples of rapid cultural change to avoid animal killing (e.g. Naude et al., 2020; Sibanda et al., 2022). However, we suspect that many people will still feel so deeply about the issue that it could be described as a *need*, and denigration or suppression of those religious and cultural needs might be considered bigotry, epistemicide or cultural imperialism. Expression of the very idea that proper or more developed religions are superior to primitive barbaric religions is typically divisive, racist, and deeply rooted in colonialism (van der Veer, 2011; Tayob, 2022). Though the practice of animal sacrifice will remain subject to criticism by some people, it is likely to continue except where it is prohibited by law (e.g. Deb, 2019). Thus, many cultural and religious practices will continue to require the killing of animals and cannot be easily substituted with practices that do not require animal killing.

# 2.10. Research, education, and testing

Killing animals for research, education and testing purposes is treated separately here because of its unique reasoning. However, it might also be thought of as an extension to, or component of, many of the other preceding reasons for animal killing by humans (Sections 2.1–2.9) given that animal research is often conducted to support our understanding and implementation of those other reasons. Animals are used in scientific and medical research and education to understand a whole range of questions relating to how human and animal bodies work, what causes diseases in humans and animals, or attempts to develop therapeutic and cosmetic treatments that are safe and effective (Gauthier and Griffin, 2005). Many, if not most, of the remarkable innovations in our medical understanding and treatment of contemporary human maladies have been at least partly derived from research using animals (Garattini, 1990; Bishop and Nolen, 2001). The use of animals for research, education and testing is typically highly regulated to ensure such use is justified on ethical and welfare grounds.

Millions of animals are used each year in research and education (e.g. dissection, vivisection, and veterinary training). However, adherence to Russell and Burch's (1959) '3 Rs' principle is now a requirement of most, if not all, legislated and self-regulated national surveillance systems to ensure this use of animals is justified (e.g. SABS, 2008; NHMRC, 2013). The *replacement* of animals in research has occurred mainly through improvements in techniques, which enable scientists to look for mechanisms of action at the cellular and molecular levels rather than using a 'whole animal' approach (Gauthier and Griffin, 2005). Most national systems of animal research oversight also require *reductions* in the use of animals where possible, directing that animals should only be used when no other method is available to meet the scientific aims of the study. The *refinement* of techniques has resulted in less harm and fewer animal deaths in experimental procedures. Refinement not only improves the lives of research animals, but it can also improve the quality of the science (NHMRC, 2013).

One obvious way to improve animal welfare while using animals for research or education purposes is to create an environment that meets the animals' specific needs. To this end, Mellor and Reid (1994) developed the '5 domains model' (originally based on the United Kingdom Farm Animal Welfare Council's '5 freedoms') to assist in identifying welfare impacts under the following domains: nutrition, environment, health, behaviour, and mental state. While the implementation of Russell and Burch's '3 Rs' principle and Mellor and Reid's '5 domains' model have contributed enormously to the responsible use of animals in scientific research, the use and killing of animals for research and education cannot be easily eliminated outright. This is partly because animal experimentation is often intended to identify ways to reduce harm to animals. For example, the effective development of mammal trapping devices used by researchers and trappers involves the implementation of stepwise protocols to minimise pain and suffering and ensures a thorough assessment of traps with a minimum number of animals (Proulx et al., 2012). Without such state-of-the-art research protocols and ongoing refinement of techniques (e.g. Meek et al., 2021), traps used in the field may cause otherwise avoidable pain, suffering and death to millions of animals (Proulx et al., 2020).

Humans do not need to kill animals for research and education purposes, but refraining from this endeavour will undermine our ability to improve animal welfare and minimise animal killing in the future. For example, the animal welfare impacts of agricultural killing practices (Section 2.3) may not improve if we cease researching ways to reduce harm to killed animals, or the harms associated with threatened species conservation efforts (Section 2.6) may not improve if we cease researching ways to increase reintroduction success. In the absence of a universal ethic for animal experimentation, concerned scientists and non-scientists alike have plotted different courses of action while recognising that animal researchers have a role to play as moral stewards of their research animal subjects (Gauthier and Griffin, 2005). Many medical schools have eliminated their live-animal labs or have reduced the number of healthy animals used for surgical practice and experimental procedures. Alternatives to the use of live or dead animals, such as interactive 3D computer models, video footage, and life-size plastic models, can be as effective as traditional methods in some cases (Bishop and Nolen, 2001; Li et al., 2018). In contemporary contexts, the scientific community and the public need to integrate

critical thinking with the scientific method to continually identify necessary and unnecessary animal-based studies (Proulx, 2004), which is presently achieved and managed through various national codes of practice (e.g. SABS, 2008; NHMRC, 2013). Animal researchers and educators must also ensure that published research involving animals meets the highest standards for the use and treatment of animals (Field et al., 2019).

# 3. Animal killing behaviour in context

We have classified multiple reasons for animal killing behaviour by humans into 10 categories: (1) wild harvest or food acquisition, (2) human health and safety, (3) agriculture and aquaculture, (4) urbanisation and industrialisation, (5) invasive or overabundant animal control, (6) threatened species conservation, (7) recreation, sport or entertainment, (8) mercy or compassion, (9) cultural and religious practice, and (10) research, education and testing. In ecological terms, these animal killing behaviours might be better understood as human expression of interspecific forms of predation, interference competition, exploitative competition, self-defence, optimal foraging, or territoriality or territorial defence - behaviours ultimately intended to improve the prospects for food acquisition or to protect and enhance life. These are innate life objectives for any sentient animal, and each individual, group, population or species (including humans) strives towards these objectives as valuable parts of one enormous, global food web reliant on animal killing to maintain some form of dynamic equilibrium amongst its component parts (Barbosa and Castellanos, 2005; Krebs, 2008; Molles, 2012; Smith and Smith, 2015).

Since 1789, when Antoine Lavoisier discovered that 'mass is neither created nor destroyed, only changed' (Sterner et al., 2011), humans have been cognizant that every living organism ultimately must obtain its essential nutrients from other living organisms. This *First Law of Thermodynamics* or *Law of the Conservation of Mass* underpins what ecologists call nutrient cycling (Molles, 2012). Therefore, maintenance of all life on earth requires obtaining, utilizing, disposing of and recycling chemical elements, and ecosystems can be thought of as a 'battleground' for these elements (sensu Sterner et al., 2011). Each plant and animal also has particular elemental demands that are a unique, relatively fixed, elemental formula or composition determined by its form and function, and failure to meet these elemental demands leads to poor health and welfare, limited reproduction, and eventually death and extinction (e.g. Moen et al., 1999). In other words, avoidance of death requires the death of something else, either through direct (e.g. predation) or indirect (e.g. competition) means.

Some have argued that directly killing animals is unacceptable or that adopting certain herbivorous or no-killing (sensu Hall and Tolhurst, 2007; Wills, 2019) lifestyles or diets (i.e. veganism) can eliminate or greatly reduce animal killing (Singer, 1975; Regan, 1983; Francione, 2009). But achieving a no-killing lifestyle is a physical and ecological impossibility because all lifestyles are dependent on multiple forms of accidental or purposeful, indirect or direct, animal killing. For instance, most vegetable and leguminous foods come from crops that are grown on land where animals have been killed or displaced during or have died subsequent to agricultural intervention (Hampton et al., 2021; Section 2.3). Because one cannot kill that which has already been killed, a contemporary no-killing lifestyle might be more accurately termed a post-killing lifestyle. Moreover, while an animal-free diet for humans might temporarily reduce the number of animals that need killing (Singer, 1975), it will only do so until the food demand of growing human populations exceeds the production capacity of farmed arable land. When that point is inevitably reached, humans will have to directly and/or indirectly kill animals again or risk dying themselves, or substantially change their way of life (e.g. to avoid urbanisation and industrialisation; Section 2.4). Regardless, a no-killing lifestyle knowingly results in consumption of food products that indirectly require continued widespread killing of animals in diverse ways (Hall and Tolhurst, 2007; Lecerf, 2020). Humans also need space to live, however small or large that space may be (Section 2.4), which also results in animal killing. The inescapable Law of the Conservation of Mass means that the very existence or presence of humans (and every other species) is dependent on the proceeds

of killing animals now or in the past (Sterner et al., 2011); humans cannot live independent of this global food web. A contemporary no-killing lifestyle merely emphasises 'humans as competitors' (indirect killing) over 'humans as predators' (direct killing; Fig. 1), but it cannot avoid the necessity of animal killing. For those concerned about animal lives, a more modest position of minimizing animal killing will still involve intentional and unintentional forms of animal killing (Hampton et al., 2021).

These ecological realities further imply that the admonition to 'do no harm' as a means of obtaining 'peaceful coexistence' with animals (Wallach et al., 2018) is demonstrably impossible (e.g. Hayward et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2019; Callen et al., 2020; Hampton et al., 2021). Thus, eliminating all forms of direct and indirect animal killing by humans will ultimately be fruitless given the fundamental biophysical laws that demand such animal killing to support continued life on Earth (Sterner et al., 2011; Molles, 2012; Smith and Smith, 2015). 'Coexistence' is a term often and mistakenly used to infer, imply or encourage abstinence from animal killing (e.g. Dorresteijn et al., 2016; Morehouse et al., 2018; Bogezi et al., 2019; Hartel et al., 2019; Hunold and Mazuchowski, 2020; Treves and Santiago-Ávila, 2020; van Eeden et al., 2021), but this is ecologically inaccurate. Coexistence requires killing and death; coexistence is not the absence of animal killing or death (Gravel et al., 2011; Chapron and López-Bao, 2016; Hart et al., 2017; Pooley et al., 2021). If this were not the case, then even the slow-breeding African elephant Loxodonta africana would overrun the whole Earth within a short time, as described in Charles Darwin's 'elephant problem' (Darwin, 1859; but see also Podani et al., 2018). In the words of D.P. Roberts (1987), "life is pain [and] anyone who says differently is selling something". As the only known animals with an ethical or moral conscience, humans have the ability and responsibility to assume a managerial, caretaker or stewardship role over all other animals, to resolve negative interactions between them as best as possible, or to optimize welfare for as many individual animals as possible (Lewis et al., 2017). However, this will still require killing some animals to benefit others, including ourselves, as part of a dynamic process that occurs over large spatial and temporal scales.

# 4. Conclusions

Killing animals occurs in multiple ways for multiple reasons and, although some forms of killing are not essential for human existence (e.g. recreational hunting, mercy killing), the overall necessity of animal killing is an unavoidable ecological reality. We caution, however, that current levels of animal killing are unsustainable in many cases and must be modified somehow. Human populations have increased to such a degree that we now require animal killing on enormous scales to feed ourselves (Sections 2.1 and 2.3), house ourselves (Section 2.4), protect ourselves (Sections 2.2, 2.5, and 2.10), and contribute to the diversity of our ways of life (Sections 2.6-2.9; see also Crist et al., 2017). Satisfaction of the Law of the Conservation of Mass may require animals to die, but it does not require humans to live. So if human populations continue to grow at the rates we are growing without changing our food consumption practices or material way of life, then not only will animal populations crash (Ripple et al., 2014, 2015, 2016), but human populations will ultimately crash as well (Erlich, 1978). For "just as the constraints of mass balance provide a useful tool for ecologists in studying natural ecosystems, mass balance also ensures that the increase in human population and material consumption that has characterized the past 200 years cannot continue indefinitely" (Sterner et al., 2011). Growth cannot be infinite on a finite planet.

Direct and indirect forms of animal killing are an ecological necessity and will undoubtedly remain an ongoing human endeavour, as it will likewise remain for non-human animals. Animal killing by humans is also a behaviour consistent with our predatory and competitive ecological roles within the global food web. We acknowledge, however, that these arguments only get us to the point of demonstrating that animals must die and that some of those will be intentionally killed – these arguments do not necessarily sanction direct human participation in all forms of animal killing. This requires additional ethical arguments beyond the ecological arguments we have described here, arguments that benefit from an acknowledgement of the distinction between animal ethics and animal welfare, and between human rights and human welfare. We further acknowledge that others may identify additional or complementary reasons for human animal-killing behaviour, and we invite others to build on the discussion we have initiated here. A constructive dialogue that (1) accepts human participation in one enormous global food web dependent on animal killing and (2) focusses on the nuances of animal welfare and sustainability, instead of killing or not killing, is likely to improve the lives of animals to a greater extent than vain efforts to vilify human animalkilling behaviour altogether. We hope to see such constructive dialogue and encourage respectful comment and further discussion.

# Article impact statement

Killing animals is a necessary component of our inescapable involvement in a single, functioning, finite, global food web.

# CRediT authorship contribution statement

BA conceptualised the review and contributed the initial shortlist of topics discussed. Thereafter, all authors contributed equally to the development of the concepts, design, authorship and editing of the manuscript.

# Data accessibility statement

All data associated with this article is available and contained within the article.

# Funding statement

This work arose and was funded, in part, from a CIB Fellowship provided to Benjamin Allen by the inter-institutional Centre for Invasion Biology (CIB) Centre of Excellence in South Africa, co-funded principally by the South African Department of Science and Technology through the National Research Foundation (DST-NRF).

#### Data availability

No data was used for the research described in the article.

### Declaration of competing interest

The authors have no competing interests to declare.

# Acknowledgements

We acknowledge the many individuals who have engaged in lengthy discussions on this subject with the authors during the course of developing this paper over the last five years, including those who have both agreed or respectfully disagreed with our view and shared their sincere arguments. Those who have contributed to these discussions include Guy Ballard, Dave Berman, Stewart Breck, Surendranie Cabral, Courtney Marneweck, and Ruvinda de Mel. Tristan Ludlow, Buck Ferguson, John Dutton, and Hank Evans provided illustrative examples of the behaviours we discussed.

### References

- Abbate, C., Fischer, B., 2019. Don't demean "invasives": conservation and wrongful species discrimination. Animals 9, 871.
- Allen, B.L., 2011. A comment on the distribution of historical and contemporary livestock grazing across Australia: implications for using dingoes for biodiversity conservation. Ecol. Manag. Restor. 12, 26–30.
- Allen, B.L., Hampton, J.O., 2020. Minimizing animal welfare harms associated with predation management in agro-ecosystems. Biol. Rev. 95, 1097–1108.
- Allen, B.L., West, P., 2013. The influence of dingoes on sheep distribution in Australia. Aust. Vet. J. 91, 261–267.

- Allen, B.L., Higginbottom, K., Bracks, J.H., Davies, N., Baxter, G.S., 2015. Balancing dingo conservation with human safety on Fraser Island: the numerical and demographic effects of humane destruction of dingoes. Australas. J. Environ. Manag, 22, 197–215.
- Allen, B.L., Allen, L.R., Ballard, G., Drouilly, M., Fleming, P.J.S., Hampton, J.O., Hayward, M.W., Kerley, G.I.H., Meek, P.D., Minnie, L., O'Riain, M.J., Parker, D., Somers, M.J., 2019. Animal welfare considerations for using large carnivores and guardian dogs as vertebrate biocontrol tools against other animals. Biol. Conserv. 232, 258–270.
- Allen, B.L., Allen, L.R., Graham, M., Buckman, M., 2021. Elucidating dingo's ecological roles: contributions from the Pelorus Island feral goat biocontrol project. Aust. Zool. 41, 374–377.
- Anon., 2015. Animal sacrifice in the world's largest muslim-majority nation. Wall Street J. (23 September 2015).
- Appleby, R., Smith, B., Bernede, L., Jones, D., 2017. Utilising aversive conditioning to manage the behaviour of K'gari (Fraser Island) dingoes (*Canis dingo*). Pac. Conserv. Biol. 23, 335–358.
- Arruda, A.G., Beyene, T.J., Kieffer, J., Lorbach, J.N., Moeller, S., Bowman, A.S., 2020. A systematic literature review on depopulation methods for swine. Animals 10, 2161.
- Badyal, D.K., Desai, C., 2014. Animal use in pharmacology education and research: the changing scenario. Indian J. Pharm. 46, 257–265.
- Barbosa, P., Castellanos, I., 2005. Ecology of Predator-Prey Interactions. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Barstow, G., 2019. Monastic meat: the question of meat eating and vegetarianism in Tibetan buddhist monastic guidelines (bca'yig). Religions 10, 240.
- Batavia, C., Nelson, M.P., Darimont, C., Paquet, P.C., Ripple, W.J., Wallach, A.D., 2019. The elephant (head) in the room: a critical look at trophy hunting. Conserv. Lett. 12, e12565.
- Baxter, G., Finch, N., Murray, P. (Eds.), 2018. Advances in Conservation Through Sustainable Use of Wildlife. University of Oueensland, Gatton.
- Behrendorff, L., 2021. Best-practice dingo management: six lessons from K'gari (Fraser Island). Aust. Zool. 41, 521–533.
- Ben-Nun, I.F., Montague, S.C., Houck, M.L., Tran, H.T., Garitaonandia, I., Leonardo, T.R., Wang, Y.-C., Charter, S.J., Laurent, L.C., Ryder, O.A., Loring, J.F., 2011. Induced pluripotent stem cells from highly endangered species. Nat. Methods 8, 829–831.
- Bergstrom, B.J., Arias, L.C., Davidson, A.D., Ferguson, A.W., Randa, L.A., Sheffield, S.R., 2014. License to kill: reforming federal wildlife control to restore biodiversity and ecosystem function. Conserv. Lett. 7, 131–142.
- Bertolino, S., Genovesi, P., 2003. Spread and attempted eradication of the grey squirrel (*Sciurus carolinensis*) in Italy, and consequences for the red squirrel (*Sciurus vulgaris*) in Eurasia. Biol. Conserv. 109, 351–358.
- Bishop, L.J., Nolen, A.L., 2001. Animals in research and education: ethical issues. Kennedy Inst. Ethics J. 11, 91–112.
- Blanchette, A., 2018. Industrial meat production. Annu. Rev. Anthropol. 47, 185-199.
- Bobier, C., 2020. Should moral vegetarians avoid eating vegetables? Food Ethics 5, 1.
- Bobier, C., Allen, B.L., 2022a. Compassionate conservation is indistinguishable from traditional forms of conservation in practice. Front. Psychol. 13, 750313.
- Bobier, C., Allen, B.L., 2022b. The virtue of compassion in compassionate conservation. Conserv. Biol. 36, e13776.
- Bogezi, C., van Eeden, L.M., Wirsing, A., Marzluff, J., 2019. Predator-friendly beef certification as an economic strategy to promote coexistence between ranchers and wolves. Front. Ecol. Evol. 7.
- Bramble, B., 2021. Painlessly killing predators. J. Appl. Philos. 38, 217-225.
- Brown, J.S., Laundre, J.W., Gurung, M., 1999. The ecology of fear: optimal foraging, game theory, and trophic interactions. J. Mammal. 80, 385–399.
- Buddharakkhita, A., 1985. . (translator)The Dhammapada: The Buddha's Path of Wisdom. Buddhist Publication Society, Kandy.
- Burrows, M., Fox, C., Moore, P., Smale, D., Greenhill, L., Martino, S., 2018. Wild Seaweed Harvesting as a Diversification Opportunity for Fishermen. University of York, United Kingdom.
- Byers, K.A., Cox, S.M., Lam, R., Himsworth, C.G., 2019. "They're always there": resident experiences of living with rats in a disadvantaged urban neighbourhood. BMC Public Health 19, 853.
- Cabral de Mel, S.J., Seneweera, S., de Mel, R.K., Dangolla, A., Weerakoon, D.K., Maraseni, T., Allen, B.L., 2022. Current and future approaches to mitigate conflict between humans and Asian elephants: the potential use of aversive geofencing devices. Animals 12, 2965.
- Callen, A., Hayward, M.W., Klop-Toker, K., Allen, B.L., Ballard, G., Beranek, C.T., Broekhuis, F., Bugir, C.K., Clarke, R.H., Clulow, J., Clulow, S., Daltry, J.C., Davies-Mostert, H.T., Di Blanco, Y.E., Dixon, V., Fleming, P.J.S., Howell, L.G., Kerley, G.I.H., Legge, S.M., Lenga, D.J., Major, T., Montgomery, R.A., Moseby, K., Meyer, N., Parker, D.M., Périquet, S., Read, J., Scanlon, R., Shuttleworth, C., Tamessar, C., Taylor, W.A., Tuft, K., Upton, R., Valenzuela, M., Witt, R.R., Wüster, W., 2020. Envisioning the future with 'Compassionate Conservation': an ominous projection for biodiversity conservation. Biol. Conserv. 241, 108365.
- Carbone, C., Mace, G.M., Roberts, S.C., Macdonald, D.W., 1999. Energetic constraints on the diet of terrestrial carnivores. Nature 402, 286–288.
- Carbone, C., Teacher, A., Rowcliffe, J.M., 2007. The costs of carnivory. PLoS Biol. 5, 0363–0368.
- Castorani, M.C.N., Hovel, K.A., 2015. Invasive prey indirectly increase predation on their native competitors. Ecology 96, 1911–1922.
- Caughley, G., Sinclair, A.R.E., 1994. Wildlife Ecology and Management. Blackwell Sciences, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Chapron, G., López-Bao, J.V., 2016. Coexistence with large carnivores informed by community ecology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 31, 578–580.
- Chaudhary, A., Pfister, S., Hellweg, S., 2016. Spatially explicit analysis of biodiversity loss due to global agriculture, pasture and forest land use from a producer and consumer perspective. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 3928–3936.
- Cincotta, R.P., Wisnewski, J., Engelman, R., 2000. Human population in the biodiversity hotspots. Nature 404, 990–992.

#### B.L. Allen et al.

Clark, P., Clark, E., Allen, B.L., 2018. Sheep, dingoes and kangaroos: new challenges and a change of direction 20 years on. In: Baxter, G., Finch, N., Murray, P. (Eds.), Advances in Conservation Through Sustainable Use of Wildlife. University of Queensland, Brisbane, pp. 173–178.

- Clark, D.A., Brehony, P., Dickman, A., Foote, L., Hart, A.G., Jonga, C., Mbiza, M.M., Roe, D., Sandbrook, C., 2023. Hunting trophy import bans proposed by the UK may be ineffective and inequitable as conservation policies in multiple social-ecological contexts. Conserv. Lett. 16, e12935.
- Clinchy, M., Zanette, L.Y., Roberts, D., Suraci, J.P., Buesching, C.D., Newman, C., Macdonald, D.W., 2016. Fear of the human "super predator" far exceeds the fear of large carnivores in a model mesocarnivore. Behav. Ecol. 27, 1826–1832.
- Cohen, E., 2014. Recreational hunting: ethics, experiences and commoditization. Tour. Recreat. Res. 39, 3–17.
- Comizzoli, P., 2017. Biobanking and fertility preservation for rare and endangered species. Anim. Reprod. 14, 30–33.
- Cooke, S.J., Schramm, H.L., 2007. Catch-and-release science and its application to conservation and management of recreational fisheries. Fish. Manag. Ecol. 14, 73–79.
- Cove, M.V., 2019. What if trophy hunters didn't kill their trophies? Conserv. Lett. 12, e12598. Creel, S., 2018. The control of risk hypothesis: reactive vs. proactive antipredator responses
- and stress-mediated vs. food-mediated costs of response. Ecol. Lett. 21, 947–956. Crist, E., Mora, C., Engelman, R., 2017. The interaction of human population, food produc-
- tion, and biodiversity protection. Science 356, 260–264. Croney, C., Swanson, J., 2023. Is meat eating morally defensible? Contemporary ethical con-
- siderations. Anim. Front. 13, 61–67.
- Czech, B., Krausman, P.R., Devers, P.K., 2000. Economic associations among causes of species endangerment in the United States. Bioscience 50, 593–601.
- Darimont, C.T., Codding, B.F., Hawkes, K., 2017. Why men trophy hunt. Biol. Lett. 13, 20160909.
- Darwin, C., 1859. On the Origin of Species by Means of Natural Selection, or the Preservation of Favoured Races in the Struggle for Life. 6th edition. John Murray, London.
- Dawson, S., R., C., P., P., 2018. Bushmeat. Food Ethics Education. Integrating Food Science and Engineering Knowledge inTo the Food Chain. 13. Springer, Cham, Switzerland.
- De Silva, S.S., Turchini, G.M., 2008. Towards understanding the impacts of the pet food industry on world fish and seafood supplies. J. Agric. Environ. Ethics 21, 459–467.
- Deb, D., 2019. After 500 years, animal sacrifice stops at Tripurasundari Temple in Tripura: what devotees, head priest feel. Indian Express 7 October 2019, Available at: https:// indianexpress.com/article/north-east-india/after-500-years-no-animal-sacrifice-attripurasundari-temple-in-tripura-what-devotees-head-priest-feel-6057560/.
- Deckers, J., 2016. Animal (De)liberation: Should the Consumption of Animal Products Be Banned? Ubiquity Press, London.
- Demetriou, D., Fischer, B., 2018. Dignitarian hunting: a rights-based defense. Soc. Theory Pract. 44, 49–73.
- DES, 2013. Code of practice: care of sick, injured or orphaned protected animals in Queensland. Nature Conservation Act 1992. Department of Environment and Science, Queensland Government, Brisbane.
- Diagne, C., Leroy, B., Vaissière, A.-C., Gozlan, R.E., Roiz, D., Jarić, I., Salles, J.-M., Bradshaw, C.J.A., Courchamp, F., 2021. High and rising economic costs of biological invasions worldwide. Nature 592, 571–576.
- Diamond, J.M., 1999. Guns, Germs, and Steel: The Fates of Human Societies. W. W. Norton & Company, New York.
- Dickson, B., Hutton, J., Adams, W.M., 2009. Recreational Hunting, Conservation and Rural Livelihoods: Science and Practice. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford.
- Dietler, M., 2001. Theorizing the feast: rituals of consumption, commensal politics, and power in African contexts. In: Dietler, M., Hayden, B. (Eds.), Feasts: Archaeological and Ethnographic Perspectives on Food, Politics, and Power. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington DC, pp. 65–114.
- Dique, D.S., Thompson, J., Preece, H.J., Penfold, G.C., de Villiers, D.L., Leslie, R.S., 2003. Koala mortality on roads in south-east Queensland: the koala speed-zone trial. Wildl. Res. 30, 419–426.
- Doherty, T.S., Glen, A.S., Nimmo, D.G., Ritchie, E.G., Dickman, C.R., 2016. Invasive predators and global biodiversity loss. PNAS 113, 11261–11265.
- Dorresteijn, I., Milcu, A.I., Leventon, J., Hanspach, J., Fischer, J., 2016. Social factors mediating human–carnivore coexistence: understanding thematic strands influencing coexistence in Central Romania. Ambio 45, 490–500.
- Drijfhout, M., Kendal, D., Green, P.T., 2020. Understanding the human dimensions of managing overabundant charismatic wildlife in Australia. Biol. Conserv. 244, 108506.
- du Plessis, J., Avenant, N., Botha, A., Mkhize, N., Muller, L., Mzileni, N., O'Riain, J., Parker, D., Potgieter, G., Richardson, P., Rode, S., Viljoen, N., Tafani, M., 2018. Past and current management of predation on livestock. In: Kerley, G.I.H., Wilson, S.L., Balfour, D. (Eds.), Livestock Predation and Its Management in South Africa: A Scientific Assessment. Centre for African Conservation Ecology, Nelson Mandela University, Port Elizabeth, South Africa, pp. 125–177.
- El Bizri, H.R., Morcatty, T.Q., Valsecchi, J., Mayor, P., Ribeiro, J.E.S., Vasconcelos Neto, C.F.A., Oliveira, J.S., Furtado, K.M., Ferreira, U.C., Miranda, C.F.S., Silva, C.H., Lopes, V.L., Lopes, G.P., Florindo, C.C.F., Chagas, R.C., Nijman, V., Fa, J.E., 2020. Urban wild meat consumption and trade in Central Amazonia. Conserv. Biol. 34, 438–448.
- Elton, C.S., 1958. The Ecology of Invasion by Plants and Animals. Methguen, London.
- Erlich, P.R., 1978. The Population Bomb. Ballantine Books, New York.
- Faurby, S., Silvestro, D., Werdelin, L., Antonelli, A., 2020. Brain expansion in early hominins predicts carnivore extinctions in East Africa. Ecol. Lett. 23, 537–544.
- Fernando, P., 2015. Managing elephants in Sri Lanka: where we are and where we need to be. Ceylon J. Sci. (Biol. Sci.) 44, 1–11.
- Ferretti, F., Jorgensen, S., Chapple, T.K., De Leo, G., Micheli, F., 2015. Reconciling predator conservation with public safety. Front. Ecol. Environ. 13, 412–417.
- Field, K.A., Paquet, P.C., Artelle, K., Proulx, G., Brook, R.K., Darimont, C.T., 2019. Publication reform to safeguard wildlife from researcher harm. PLoS Biol. 17, e3000193.

- Fischer, B., 2019. Nonideal ethics and arguments against eating animals. Environ. Values 28, 429–448.
- Fischer, A., Sandström, C., Delibes-Mateos, M., Arroyo, B., Tadie, D., Randall, D., Hailu, F., Lowassa, A., Msuha, M., Kereži, V., Reljić, S., Linnell, J., Majić, A., 2013. On the multifunctionality of hunting – an institutional analysis of eight cases from Europe and Africa. J. Environ. Plan. Manag. 56, 531–552.
- Fleming, P.J.S., Ballard, G., 2019. Yes, killing is sometimes essential for conservation. Australian Zoologist 40, 5–12.
- Fleming, P.J.S., Ballard, G., Reid, N.C.H., Tracey, J.P., 2017. Invasive species and their impacts on agri-ecosystems: issues and solutions for restoring ecosystem processes. Rangeland J. 39, 523–535.
- Flores, D., 2016. Coyote America. Basic Books, New York, USA.
- Fordham, D., Georges, A., Corey, B., Brook, B.W., 2006. Feral pig predation threatens the indigenous harvest and local persistence of snake-necked turtles in northern Australia. Biol. Conserv. 133, 379–388.
- Francione, G.L., 2009. Animals as Persons: Essays on the Abolition of Animal Exploitation. Columbia University Press, New York.
- Frey, G.P., West, T.A.P., Hickler, T., Rausch, L., Gibbs, H.K., Börner, J., 2018. Simulated impacts of soy and infrastructure expansion in the Brazilian Amazon: a maximum entropy approach. Forests 9, 600.
- Fukuda, Y., Manolis, C., Appel, K., 2014. Management of human-crocodile conflict in the Northern Territory, Australia: review of crocodile attacks and removal of problem crocodiles. J. Wildl. Manag. 78, 1239–1249.
- Funk, J.L., Cleland, E.E., Suding, K.N., Zavaleta, E.S., 2008. Restoration through reassembly: plant traits and invasion resistance. Trends Ecol. Evol. 23, 695–703.
- Garattini, S., 1990. The necessity of animal experimentation. In: Garallini, S. (Ed.), The Importance of Animal Experimentation for Safety and Biomedical Research. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Netherlands, pp. 1–3.
- Gauthier, C., Griffin, G., 2005. Using animals in research, testing and teaching. Rev. Sci. Tech. (Int. Off. Epizootics) 24, 735–745.
- Gibson, D.F., Johnson, K.A., Langford, D.G., Cole, J.R., Clarke, D.E., Willowra community, 1995. The rufous hare-wallaby *Lagorchestes hirsutus*: a history of experimental reintroduction in the Tanami Desert, Northern Territory. In: Serena, M. (Ed.), Reintroduction Biology of Australian and New Zealand Fauna. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, pp. 171–176.
- Gilbert, A., Johnson, S., Walker, N., Wickham, C., Beath, A., VerCauteren, K., 2018a. Efficacy of Ontario Rabies Vaccine Baits (ONRAB) against rabies infection in raccoons. Vaccine 36, 4919–4926.
- Gilbert, M., Nicolas, G., Cinardi, G., Van Boeckel, T.P., Vanwambeke, S.O., Wint, G.R.W., Robinson, T.P., 2018b. Global distribution data for cattle, buffaloes, horses, sheep, goats, pigs, chickens and ducks in 2010. Sci. Data 5, 180227.
- Goodrich, J.M., Buskirk, S.W., 1995. Control of abundant native vertebrates for conservation of endangered species. Conserv. Biol. 9, 1357–1364.
- Gortázar, C., Fernandez-de-Simon, J., 2022. One tool in the box: the role of hunters in mitigating the damages associated to abundant wildlife. Eur. J. Wildl. Res. 68, 28.
- Govindrajan, R., 2015. The goat that died for family: animal sacrifice and interspecies kinship in India's Central Himalayas. Am. Ethnol. 42, 504–519.
- Gravel, D., Guichard, F., Hochberg, M.E., 2011. Species coexistence in a variable world. Ecol. Lett. 14, 828–839.
- Griffin, J.M., O'Reilly, P.J., 2003. Epidemiology and control of an outbreak of foot-and-mouth disease in the Republic of Ireland in 2001. Vet. Rec. 152, 705–712.
- Gruen, L., Jones, R., 2015. Veganism as an aspiration. The Moral Complexities of Eating Meat. Oxford University Press, London.
- Gurung, B., Smith, J.L.D., McDougal, C., Karki, J.B., Barlow, A., 2008. Factors associated with human-killing tigers in Chitwan National Park, Nepal. Biol. Conserv. 141, 3069–3078.
- Hall, J., Tolhurst, I., 2007. Growing Green: Animal-free Organic Techniques. Chelsea Green Publishing, White River Junction, VT, USA.
- Hampton, J.O., Forsyth, D.M., Mackenzie, D.I., Stuart, I.G., 2015a. A simple quantitative method for assessing animal welfare outcomes in terrestrial wildlife shooting: the European rabbit as a case study. Anim. Welf. 24, 307–317.
- Hampton, J.O., Hyndman, T.H., Barnes, A., Collins, T., 2015b. Is wildlife fertility control always humane? Animals 5, 1047–1071.
- Hampton, J.O., Edwards, G.P., Cowled, B.D., Forsyth, D.M., Hyndman, T.H., Perry, A.L., Miller, C.J., Adams, P.J., Collins, T., 2017. Assessment of animal welfare for helicopter shooting of feral horses. Wildl. Res. 44, 97–105.
- Hampton, J.O., Jones, B., McGreevy, P.D., 2020. Social license and animal welfare: developments from the past decade in Australia. Animals 10, 2237.
- Hampton, J., Hyndman, T.H., Allen, B.L., Fischer, B., 2021. Animal harms and food production: informing ethical choices. Animals 11, 1225.
- Haq, S.M., Calixto, E.S., Yaqoob, U., Ahmed, R., Mahmoud, A.H., Bussmann, R.W., Mohammed, O.B., Ahmad, K., Abbasi, A.M., 2020. Traditional usage of wild fauna among the local inhabitants of Ladakh, Trans-Himalayan Region. Animals 10, 2317.
- Harris, R.B., Shilai, M., 1997. Initiating a hunting ethic in Lisu villages, western Yunnan, China. Mt. Res. Dev. 17, 171–176.
- Hart, S.P., Usinowicz, J., Levine, J.M., 2017. The spatial scales of species coexistence. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 1, 1066–1073.
- Hartel, T., Scheele, B.C., Vanak, A.T., Rozylowicz, L., Linnell, J.D.C., Ritchie, E.G., 2019. Mainstreaming human and large carnivore coexistence through institutional collaboration. Conserv. Biol. 33, 1256–1265.
- Hawkes, K., Bliege Bird, R., 2002. Showing off, handicap signaling, and the evolution of men's work. Evol. Anthropol. 11, 58–67.
- Hayden, B., 2014. The Power of Feasts: From Prehistory to the Present. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Hayward, M.W., Callen, A., Allen, B.L., Ballard, G., Broekhuis, F., Bugir, C., Clarke, R.H., Clulow, J., Clulow, S., Daltry, J.C., Davies-Mostert, H.T., Fleming, P.J.S., Griffin, A.S., Howell, L.G., Kerley, G.I.H., Klop-Toker, K., Legge, S., Major, T., Meyer, N.,

#### B.L. Allen et al.

Montgomery, R.A., Moseby, K., Parker, D.M., Périquet, S., Read, J., Scanlon, R.J., Seeto, R., Shuttleworth, C., Somers, M.J., Tamessar, C.T., Tuft, K., Upton, R., Valenzuela-Molina, M., Wayne, A., Witt, R.R., Wüster, W., 2019. Deconstructing compassionate conservation. Conserv. Biol. 33, 760–768.

- Heffelfinger, J.R., Geist, V., Wishart, W., 2013. The role of hunting in North American wildlife conservation. Int. J. Environ. Stud. 70, 399–413.
- Heriot, S., Asher, J., Williams, M.R., Moro, D., 2019. The eradication of ungulates (sheep and goats) from Dirk Hartog Island, Shark Bay World Heritage Area, Australia. Biol. Invasions 21, 1789–1805.
- Heywood, V.H., Fanzo, J., Hunter, D., Borelli, T., Mattei, F., 2013. Overview of agricultural biodiversity and its contribution to nutrition and health. Diversity Food and Diets. London, UK, Routledge, pp. 35–67.
- Holzer, H.M., 1995. Contradictions will out: animal rights vs. animal sacrifice in the Supreme Court. Anim. Law 1, 83–108.
- Honda, A., Choijookhuu, N., Izu, H., Kawano, Y., Inokuchi, M., Honsho, K., Lee, A.-R., Nabekura, H., Ohta, H., Tsukiyama, T., Ohinata, Y., Kuroiwa, A., Hishikawa, Y., Saitou, M., Jogahara, T., Koshimoto, C., 2017. Flexible adaptation of male germ cells from female iPSCs of endangered *Tokudaia osimensis*. Sci. Adv. 3, e1602179.
- Hunold, C., Mazuchowski, M., 2020. Human–wildlife coexistence in urban wildlife management: insights from nonlethal predator management and rodenticide bans. Animals 10, 1983.
- Inglis, M., 2016. Killing for Conservation: The Ethics of Life and Death in Conservation Policy. (PhD thesis)University of Sheffield.
- Johnson, P.J., Adams, V.M., Armstrong, D.P., Baker, S.E., Biggs, D., Boitani, L., Cotterill, A., Dale, E., O'Donnell, H., Douglas, D.J.T., Droge, E., Ewen, J.G., Feber, R.E., Genovesi, P., Hambler, C., Harmsen, B.J., Harrington, L.A., Hinks, A., Hughes, J., Katsis, L., Loveridge, A., Moehrenschlager, A., O'Kane, C., Pierre, M., Redpath, S., Sibanda, L., Soorae, P., Stanley Price, M., Tyrrell, P., Zimmermann, A., Dickman, A., 2019. Consequences matter: compassion in conservation means caring for individuals, populations and species. Animals 9, 1115.
- Jones, C.W., Risi, M.M., Osborne, A.M., Ryan, P.G., Oppel, S., 2021. Mouse eradication is required to prevent local extinction of an endangered seabird on an oceanic island. Anim. Conserv. 24, 637–645.
- Katz, W.B., 1998. The ABCs of Environmental Science. Government Institutes, Maryland.
- Kessels, J.A., Recuenco, S., Navarro-Vela, A.M., Deray, R., Vigilato, M., Ertl, H., Durrheim, D., Rees, H., Nel, L.H., Abela-Ridder, B., Briggs, D., 2017. Pre-exposure rabies prophylaxis: a systematic review. Bull. World Health Organ. 95, 210–219C.
- Knight, A., 2018. Commercial management of the feral camels on aboriginal lands in central Australia. In: Baxter, G., Finch, N., Murray, P. (Eds.), Advances in Conservation Through Sustainable Use of Wildlife. University of Queensland, Brisbane, pp. 232–234.
- Krebs, C.J., 2008. Ecology: The Experimental Analysis of Distribution and Abundance. Benjamin-Cummings Publishing, San Francisco.
- Lamey, A., 2019. Duty and the Beast: Should We Eat Meat in the Name of Animal Rights? Cambridge University Press, United Kingdom.
- Lantz, T.C., Turner, N.J., 2003. Traditional phenological knowledge of Aboriginal peoples in British Columbia. J. Ethnobiol. 23, 263–286.
- Lecerf, J.-M., 2020. Carnivorisme ou véganisme? Médecine des Maladies Métaboliques 14, 141–147.
- Lehman, H., 1988. On the moral acceptability of killing animals. J. Agric. Ethics 1, 155–162. Lennox, R., 2017. Killing bold. Griffith Rev. 57. Available at: https://www.griffithreview.
- com/articles/killing-bold-managing-the-dingoes-of-fraser-island/.
  Leroy, F., Praet, I., 2017. Animal killing and postdomestic meat production. J. Agric. Environ. Ethics 30, 67–86.
- Leroy, F., Smith, N.W., Adesogan, A.T., Beal, T., Iannotti, L., Moughan, P.J., Mann, N., 2023. The role of meat in the human diet: evolutionary aspects and nutritional value. Animal Frontiers 13, 11–18.
- Lewis, P.-M., Burns, G.L., Jones, D., 2017. Response and responsibility: humans as apex predators and ethical actors in a changing societal environment. Food Webs 12, 49–55.
- Li, G., Abbade, L.P.F., Nwosu, I., Jin, Y., Leenus, A., Maaz, M., Wang, M., Bhatt, M., Zielinski, L., Sanger, N., Bantoto, B., Luo, C., Shams, I., Shahid, H., Chang, Y., Sun, G., Mbuagbaw, L., Samaan, Z., Levine, M.A.H., Adachi, J.D., Thabane, L., 2018. A systematic review of comparisons between protocols or registrations and full reports in primary biomedical research. BMC Med. Res. Methodol. 18, 9.
- Lindsey, P.A., Roulet, P.A., Romañach, S.S., 2007. Economic and conservation significance of the trophy hunting industry in sub-Saharan Africa. Biol. Conserv. 134, 455–469.
- Livezey, K.B., 2010. Killing barred owls to help spotted owls: a global perspective. Northwest. Nat. 91, 107–133.
- Loveridge, A.J., Newton, D.J., Macdonald, D.W., 2017. A roaring trade? The legal trade in Panthera leo bones from Africa to East-Southeast Asia. PLoS One 12, e0185996.
- Low, M.-R., Hoong, W.Z., Shen, Z., Murugavel, B., Mariner, N., Paguntalan, L.M., Tanalgo, K., Aung, M.M., Sheherazade, Bansa, L.A., Sritongchuay, T., Preble, J.H., Aziz, S.A., 2021. Bane or blessing? Reviewing cultural values of bats across the Asia-Pacific region. J. Ethnobiol. 41, 18–34.
- Macdonald, D.W., Johnson, P.J., Loveridge, A.J., Burnham, D., Dickman, A.J., 2016. Conservation or the moral high ground: siding with Bentham or Kant. Conserv. Lett. 9, 307–308.
- Mann, N.J., 2018. A brief history of meat in the human diet and current health implications. Meat Sci. 144, 169–179.
- María, G.A., Mazas, B., Zarza, F.J., de la Lama, G.C.M., 2017. Animal welfare, national identity and social change: attitudes and opinions of Spanish citizens towards bullfighting. J. Agric. Environ. Ethics 30, 809–826.
- Marvin, G., 2000. The problem of foxes: legitimate and illegitimate killing in the English countryside. In: Knight, F. (Ed.), 'Natural Enemies: People-wildlife Conflicts in Anthropological Perspective. Routledge, London, pp. 189–211.
- McAlpine, C., Lunney, D., Melzer, A., Menkhorst, P., Phillips, S., Phalen, D., Ellis, W., Foley, W., Baxter, G., de Villiers, D., Kavanagh, R., Adams-Hosking, C., Todd, C., Whisson, D.,

Molsher, R., Walter, M., Lawler, I., Close, R., 2015. Conserving koalas: a review of the contrasting regional trends, outlooks and policy challenges. Biol. Conserv. 192, 226–236.

- McCorquodale, S.M., 1997. Cultural contexts of recreational hunting and native subsistence and ceremonial hunting: their significance for wildlife management. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 25, 568–573.
- McKinney, M., 2002. Urbanisation, biodiversity, and conservation. Bioscience 52, 883–890.McMahan, J., 2002. The Ethics of Killing: Problems at the Margins of Life. Oxford University Press, London.
- McWilliam, A.N., Cheke, R.A., 2004. A review of the impacts of control operations against the red-billed quelea (*Quelea quelea*) on non-target organisms. Environ. Conserv. 31, 130–137.
- Meek, P.D., Ballard, G., Milne, H., Croft, S., Lawson, G., Fleming, P.J.S., 2021. Satellite and telecommunication alert system for foot-hold trapping. Wildl. Res. 48, 97–104.
- Mellor, D.J., Reid, C.S.W., Baker, R., Jenkin, G., Mellor, D., 1994. Concepts of animal wellbeing and predicting the impact of procedures on experimental animals. Improving the Well-being of Animals in the Research Environment. Australian and New Zealand Council for the Care of Animals in Research and Teaching, Sydney, Australia, pp. 3–18.
- Middleton, M., 2009. The number of animals killed to produce one million calories in eight food categories. Available at: http://www.animalvisuals.org/data/1mc: Retrieved: 10 April 2020.
- Miller, D.K., 2012. Killing on the frontier: meat eating as an extreme case for Christian ethics. Mod. Theol. 28, 53–80.
- Miller, S.M., Funston, P.J., 2014. Rapid growth rates of lion (*Panthera leo*) populations in small, fenced reserves in South Africa: a management dilemma. S. Afr. J. Wildl. Res. 44, 43–55.
- Mkhabela, T.S., 2006. A review of the use of manure in small-scale crop production systems in South Africa. J. Plant Nutr. 29, 1157–1185.
- Moen, R.A., Pastor, J., Cohen, Y., 1999. Antler growth and extinction of Irish Elk. Evol. Ecol. Res. 1, 235–249.
- Molles, M., 2012. Ecology: Concepts and Applications. 6th edition. McGraw-Hill Science/Engineering/Math, New York.
- Montgomery, R.A., Mehta, S.A., Parent, B., Griesemer, A., 2022. Next steps for the xenotransplantation of pig organs into humans. Nat. Med. 28, 1533–1536.
- Morehouse, A.T., Tigner, J., Boyce, M.S., 2018. Coexistence with large carnivores supported by a predator-compensation program. Environ. Manag. xx, xx.
- Morgan, D.R., Nugent, G., Warburton, B., 2006. Benefits and feasibility of local elimination of possum populations. Wildl. Res. 33, 605–614.
- Mullen, M.A., Pedersen, J.R., 2000. Sanitation and exclusion. In: Subramanyam, B., Hagstrum, D.W. (Eds.), Alternatives to Pesticides in Stored-product IPM. Springer, Boston, MA, pp. 29–50.
- Naude, V.N., Balme, G.A., Rogan, M.S., Needham, M.D., Whittington-Jones, G., Dickerson, T., Mabaso, X., Nattrass, N., Bishop, J.M., Hunter, L., O'Riain, M.J., 2020. Longitudinal assessment of illegal leopard skin use in ceremonial regalia and acceptance of faux alternatives among followers of the Shembe Church, South Africa. Conserv. Sci. Pract. 2, e289.
- Nelson, M.P., Bruskotter, J.T., Vucetich, J.A., Chapron, G., 2016. Emotions and the ethics of consequence in conservation decisions: lessons from Cecil the lion. Conserv. Lett. 9, 302–306.
- NHMRC, 2013. Australian Code for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes. 8th edition. National Health and Medical Research Council, Australian Government, Canberra.
- Nobis, N., 2019. Euthanasia, or mercy killing. Polit. Anim. Mag. (18 April 2019).
- Nugent, G., Buddle, B.M., Knowles, G., 2015. Epidemiology and control of *Mycobacterium* bovis infection in brushtail possums (*Trichosurus vulpecula*), the primary wildlife host of bovine tuberculosis in New Zealand. N. Z. Vet. J. 63, 28–41.
- Oaks, J.L., Gilbert, M., Virani, M.Z., Watson, R.T., Meteyer, C.U., Rideout, B.A., Shivaprasad, H.L., Ahmed, S., Chaudhry, M.J., Arshad, M., Mahmood, S., Ali, A., Khan, A.A., 2004. Diclofenac residues as the cause of vulture population decline in Pakistan. Nature 427, 630–633.
- Ozioma, E.O.J., Chinwe, O.A.N., 2019. Herbal medicines in African traditional medicine. Herbal Med. 10, 191–214.
- Paini, D.R., Sheppard, A.W., Cook, D.C., De Barro, P.J., Worner, S.P., Thomas, M.B., 2016. Global threat to agriculture from invasive species. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113, 7575–7579.
- Pauly, D., 2016. Global Atlas of Marine Fisheries: A Critical Appraisal of Catches and Ecosystem Impacts. Island Press, Washington D.C.
- Penteriani, V., Delgado, M., Pinchera, F., Naves, J., Fernández-Gil, A., Kojola, I., Härkönen, S., Norberg, H., Frank, J., Fedriani, J.M., Sahlén, V., Støen, O.-G., Swenson, J.E., Wabakken, P., Pellegrini, M., Herrero, S., López-Bao, J.V., 2016. Human behaviour can trigger large carnivore attacks in developed countries. Sci. Rep. 6, 20552.
- Podani, J., Kun, Á., Szilágyi, A., 2018. How fast does Darwin's elephant population grow? J. Hist. Biol. 51, 259–281.
- Pooley, S., Bhatia, S., Vasava, A., 2021. Rethinking the study of human-wildlife coexistence. Conserv. Biol. 35, 784–793.
- Pople, A.R., Grigg, G.C., 1999. Commercial Harvesting of Kangaroos in Australia. Environment Australia, Canberra.
- Probyn-Rapsey, F., Lennox, R., 2022. Feral violence: the Pelorus experiment. Environ. Plan. E: Nat. Space 5, 362–380.
- Proulx, G., 2004. Integrating scientific method and critical thinking in classroom debates on environmental issues. Am. Biol. Teach. 66, 26–33.
- Proulx, G., Powell, R.A., 2016. Build habitats, not fences, for caribou. Science 353, 1506–1507.
- Proulx, G., Cattet, M.R.L., Powell, R.A., 2012. Humane and efficient capture and handling methods for carnivores. In: Boitani, L., Powell, R.A. (Eds.), Carnivore Ecology and Conservation: A Handbook of Techniques. Oxford University Press, London, UK, pp. 70–129.
- Prouix, G., Cattet, M., Serfass, T.L., Baker, S.E., 2020. Updating the AIHTS trapping standards to improve animal welfare and capture efficiency and selectivity. Animals 10, 1262.

Raine, A.F., Driskill, S., Vynne, M., Harvey, D., Pias, K., 2020. Managing the effects of introduced predators on Hawaiian endangered seabirds. J. Wildl. Manag. 84, 425–435.

- Raj, S.J., 2004. Dialogue 'on the ground': the complicated identities and the complex negotiations of Catholics and Hindus in South India. J. Hindu-Christian Stud. 17 (Article 7).
- Ray, D.K., Sloat, L.L., Garcia, A.S., Davis, K.F., Ali, T., Xie, W., 2022. Crop harvests for direct food use insufficient to meet the UN's food security goal. Nat. Food 3, 367–374.
- Read, J.L., 2019. Among the Pigeons: Why our Cats Belong Indoors. Wakefield Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA.
- Regan, T., 1983. The Case for Animal Rights. University of California Press, Berkeley.

Rioja-Lang, F., Bacon, H., Connor, M., Dwyer, C.M., 2020. Prioritisation of animal welfare issues in the UK using expert consensus. Vet. Rec. 187, 490.

- Ripple, W.J., Estes, J.A., Beschta, R.L., Wilmers, C.C., Ritchie, E.G., Hebblewhite, M., Berger, J., Elmhagen, B., Letnic, M., Nelson, M.P., Schmitz, O.J., Smith, D.W., Wallach, A.D., Wirsing, A.J., 2014. Status and ecological effects of the world's largest carnivores. Science 343, 151–163.
- Ripple, W.J., Newsome, T.M., Wolf, C., Dirzo, R., Everatt, K.T., Galetti, M., Hayward, M.W., Kerley, G.I.H., Levi, T., Lindsey, P.A., Macdonald, D.W., Malhi, Y., Painter, L.E., Sandom, C.J., Terborgh, J., Van Valkenburgh, B., 2015. Collapse of the world's largest herbivores. Sci. Adv. 1, e1400103.
- Ripple, W.J., Chapron, G., López-Bao, J.V., Durant, S.M., Macdonald, D.W., Lindsey, P.A., Bennett, E.L., Beschta, R.L., Bruskotter, J.T., Campos-Arceiz, A., Corlett, R.T., Darimont, C.T., Dickman, A.J., Dirzo, R., Dublin, H.T., Estes, J.A., Everatt, K.T., Galetti, M., Goswami, V.R., Hayward, M.W., Hedges, S., Hoffmann, M., Hunter, L.T.B., Kerley, G.I.H., Letnic, M., Levi, T., Maisels, F., Morrison, J.C., Nelson, M.P., Newsome, T.M., Painter, L., Pringle, R.M., Sandom, C.J., Terborgh, J., Treves, A., Van Valkenburgh, B., Vucetich, J.A., Wirsing, A.J., Wallach, A.D., Wolf, C., Woodroffe, R., Young, H., Zhang, L., 2016. Saving the world's terrestrial megafauna. Bioscience 35, 514–518.
- Roberts, D.P., 1987. The Princess Bride. 20th Century Fox Film Corporation, Los Angeles, USA.
- Robin, L., Heinsohn, R., Joseph, L., 2009. Boom and Bust: Bird Stories for a Dry Country. CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, Victoria, Australia.
- Rosatte, R.C., 2013. Rabies control in wild carnivores. In: Jackson, S.M. (Ed.), Rabies: Scientific Basis of the Disease and its Management, Third edition Academic Press, Boston.
- Roy, C., 2005. Traditional Festivals: A Multicultural Encyclopedia. Vol. 1. ABC CLIO Inc, Santa Barbara. California. USA.
- Ruel, M., 1990. Non-sacrificial ritual killing. Man 25, 323-335.
- Russell, W.M.S., Burch, R.L., 1959. The Principles of Humane Experimental Technique. Methuen & Co. Ltd, London (Reissued in 1992 by Universities Federation for Animal Welfare (UFAW), Potters Bar, Hertfordshire).
- Russell, J.C., Jones, H.P., Armstrong, D.P., Courchamp, F., Kappes, P.J., Seddon, P.J., Oppel, S., Rauzon, M.J., Cowan, P.E., Rocamora, G., Genovesi, P., Bonnaud, E., Keitt, B.S., Holmes, N.D., Tershy, B.R., 2016. Importance of lethal control of invasive predators for island conservation. Conserv. Biol. 30, 670–672.
- SABS, 2008. South African National Standard: The Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes. SANS 10383:2008. SABS Standards Division, Pretoria.
- Salerno, J., Bailey, K., Gaughan, A.E., Stevens, F.R., Hilton, T., Cassidy, L., Drake, M.D., Pricope, N.G., Hartter, J., 2020. Wildlife impacts and vulnerable livelihoods in a transfrontier conservation landscape. Conserv. Biol. 34, 891–902.
- Shah, S.N., Fossa, A., Steiner, A.S., Kane, J., Levy, J.I., Adamkiewicz, G., Bennett-Fripp, W.M., Reid, M., 2018. Housing quality and mental health: the association between pest infestation and depressive symptoms among public housing residents. J. Urban Health 95, 691–702.
- Shapiro, B., 2016. The Right Side of History: How Reason and Moral Purpose Made the West Great. HarperCollins Publishers, New York.
- Sharp, T., Saunders, G., 2011. A Model for Assessing the Relative Humaneness of Pest Animal Control Methods. Australian Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, Canberra, ACT.
- Sharp, A., Holmes, K., Norton, M., 1999. An evaluation of a long-term feral goat control program in Mootwingee National Park and Coturaundee Nature Reserve, far western New South Wales. Rangeland J. 21, 13–23.
- Shepard, W., 2011. Maya and Catholic religious syncretism at Chamula, Mexico. Vagabond J. 26 November 2011, Available at: https://www.vagabondjourney.com/maya-andcatholic-religious-syncretism-at-chamula-mexico/.
- Sibanda, L., Johnson, P.J., Van Der Meer, E., Hughes, C., Dlodlo, B., Mathe, L.J., Hunt, J.E., Parry, R.H., Macdonald, D., Loveridge, A.J., 2022. Effectiveness of community-based livestock protection strategies: a case study of human-lion conflict mitigation. Oryx 56, 537–545.
- Siekierski, K., 2013. The Armenian apostolic church and vernacular christianity in Soviet Armenia. Keston Newsl. 18, 15–20.
- Singer, P., 1975. Animal Liberation: A New Ethics for Our Treatment of Animals. HarperCollins, United States.
- Singer, P., 2015. In: Višak, T., Garner, R. (Eds.), The Ethics of Killing Animals. Oxford University Press, London.
- Singleton, G.R., Brown, P.R., Jacob, J., Aplin, K.P., 2007. Unwanted and unintended effects of culling: a case for ecologically-based rodent management. Integr. Zool. 2, 247–259.
- Singleton, G.R., Belmain, S., Brown, P.R., Aplin, K., Htwe, N.M., 2010. Impacts of rodent outbreaks on food security in Asia. Wildl. Res. 37, 355–359.
- Skead, C.J., 2007. In: Boshoff, A.F., Kerley, G.I.H., Lloyd, P.H. (Eds.), Historical Incidence of the Larger Land Mammals in the Broader Eastern Cape, Second edition Centre for African Conservation Ecology, Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University, Port Elizabeth.
- Smith, T.M., Smith, R.L., 2015. Elements of Ecology. 9th edition. Pearson Education, London.

- Somers, M.J., Davies-Mostert, J., Mzileni, N., Swanepoel, L.H., Do Linh San, E., Botha, A.J., Tjelele, J., Dumalisile, L., Marnewick, K., Tafani, M., Hunnicutt, A., Tambling, C., Minnie, L., Hawkins, H.-J., 2018. Biology, ecology and interaction of other predators with livestock. In: Kerley, G.I.H., Wilson, S.L., Balfour, D. (Eds.), Livestock Predation and its Management in South Africa: A Scientific Assessment. Centre for African Conservation Ecology, Nelson Mandela University, Port Elizabeth, South Africa, pp. 228–254.
- Soulé, M.E., Noss, R., 1998. Rewilding and biodiversity: complementary goals for continental conservation. Wild Earth 8, 1–11.
- Steffen, W., Crutzen, P.J., McNeill, J.R., 2007. The anthropocene: are humans now overwhelming the great forces of nature? AMBIO: J. Human Environ. 36, 614–621.

Sterner, R.W., Small, G.E., Hood, J., 2011. The conservation of mass. Nature Educ. Knowl. 3, 20.

- Stobo-Wilson, A.M., Stokeld, D., Einoder, L.D., Davies, H.F., Fisher, A., Hill, B.M., Mahney, T., Murphy, B.P., Stevens, A., Woinarski, J.C.Z., Rangers, Djelk, Rangers, Warddeken, Gillespie, G.R., 2020. Habitat structural complexity explains patterns of feral cat and dingo occurrence in monsoonal Australia. Divers. Distrib. 247, 108638.
- Stutterheim, C.J., 1982. Past and present ecological distribution of the redbilled oxpecker (Buphagus erythrorhynchus) in South Africa. Afr. Zool. 17, 190–196.
- Suraci, J.P., Clinchy, M., Zanette, L.Y., Wilmers, C.C., 2019. Fear of humans as apex predators has landscape-scale impacts from mountain lions to mice. Ecol. Lett. 22, 1578–1586.
- Tank, L., Thiele, S., 2019. The doctrine of double effect and killing animals for food. J. Agric. Environ. Ethics 32, 239–253.
- Tayob, S., 2022. Race, animal bodies and religion: sacrifice, sensory politics and public space in South Africa. In: Ahmad, I., Kang, J. (Eds.), The Nation Form in the Global Age: Ethnographic Perspectives. Palgrave Macmillan, New York, pp. 249–271.

Thorn, M., Green, M., Scott, D., Marnewick, K., 2013. Characteristics and determinants of human-carnivore conflict in South African farmland. Biodivers. Conserv. 22, 1715–1730.

- Thomton, C., Quinn, M.S., 2009. Coexisting with cougars: public perceptions, attitudes, and awareness of cougars on the urban-rural fringe of Calgary, Alberta, Canada. Human-Wildlife Conflicts 3, 282–295.
- Treves, A., Santiago-Ávila, F.J., 2020. Myths and assumptions about human-wildlife conflict and coexistence. Conserv. Biol. 34, 811–818.
- van der Veer, P., 2011. Spirit. Mater. Relig. 7, 124-131.
- van Eeden, L.M., Newsome, T.M., Crowther, M.S., Dickman, C.R., Bruskotter, J., 2020. Diverse public perceptions of species' status and management align with conflicting conservation frameworks. Biol. Conserv. 242, 108416.
- van Eeden, L., Dickman, C., Crowther, M., Newsome, T., 2021. A theory of change for promoting coexistence between dingoes and livestock production. Conserv. Sci. Pract. 3, e304.
- Velarde, A., Rodriguez, P., Dalmau, A., Fuentes, C., Lloncha, P., von Holleben, K.V., Anil, M.H., Lambooij, J.B., Pleiter, H., Yesildere, T., Cenci-Goga, B.T., 2014. Religious slaughter: evaluation of current practices in selected countries. Meat Sci. 96, 278–287.
- Wallach, A.D., Bekoff, M., Batavia, C., Nelson, M.P., Ramp, D., 2018. Summoning compassion to address the challenges of conservation. Conserv. Biol. 32, 1255–1265.
- Wallach, A.D., Batavia, C., Bekoff, M., Alexander, S., Baker, L., Ben-Ami, D., Boronyak, L., Cardilini, A.P.A., Carmel, Y., Celermajer, D., Coghlan, S., Dahdal, Y., Gomez, J.J., Kaplan, G., Keynan, O., Khalilieh, A., Kopnina, H., Lynn, W.S., Narayanan, Y., Riley, S.J., Santiago-Ávila, F.J., Yanco, E., Zemanova, M.A., Ramp, D., 2020a. Recognizing animal personhood in compassionate conservation. Conserv. Biol. 34, 1097–1106.
- Wallach, A.D., Lundgren, E., Batavia, C., Nelson, M.P., Yanco, E., Linklater, W.L., Carroll, S.P., Celermajer, D., Brandis, K.J., Steer, J., Ramp, D., 2020b. When all life counts in conservation. Conserv. Biol. 34, 997–1007.
- Warburton, B., Tompkins, D.M., Choquenot, D., Cowan, P., 2012. Minimising number killed in long-term vertebrate pest management programmes, and associated economic incentives. Anim. Welf. 21, 141–149.
- Weinhold, D., Killick, E., Reis, E.J., 2013. Soybeans, poverty and inequality in the Brazilian Amazon. World Dev. 52, 132–143.
- Whitaker, P.B., Shine, R., 2000. Sources of mortality of large elapid snakes in an agricultural landscape. J. Herpetol. 34, 121–128.
- Williams, S.C., Denicola, A.J., Almendinger, T., Maddock, J., 2013. Evaluation of organized hunting as a management technique for overabundant white-tailed deer in suburban landscapes. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 37, 137–145.
- Wills, J., 2019. The intentional killing of field animals and ethical veganism. In: Linzey, A., Linzey, C. (Eds.), Ethical Vegetarianism and Veganism. Routledge, New York.
- Wilson, G.R., Edwards, M., 2019. Professional kangaroo population control leads to better animal welfare, conservation outcomes and avoids waste. Aust. Zool. 40, 181–202.
- Witmer, G., Proulx, G., 2010. Rodent outbreaks in North America. In: Singleton, G.R., Belmain, S.R., Brown, P.R., Hardy, B. (Eds.), Rodent Outbreaks – Ecology and Impacts. International Rice Research Institute, Metro Manila, Philippines, pp. 253–267.
- Wolfe, L.L., Miller, M.W., Williams, E.S., 2004. Feasibility of "test-and-cull" for managing chronic wasting disease in urban mule deer. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 32, 500–505.
- Yamazaki, K., Bwalya, T., 1999. Fatal lion attacks on local people in the Luangwa Valley, eastern Zambia. S. Afr. J. Wildl. Res. 29, 19–21.
- Yanco, E., Nelson, M.P., Ramp, D., 2019. Cautioning against the overemphasis of normative constructs in conservation decision making. Conserv. Biol. 33, 1002–1013.
- Zaidi, F., Chen, X., 2011. A preliminary survey of carrion breeding insects associated with the Eid ul Azha festival in remote Pakistan. Forensic Sci. Int. 209, 186–194.
- Zavaleta, E.S., Hobbs, R.J., Mooney, H.A., 2001. Viewing invasive species removal in a wholeecosystem context. Trends Ecol. Evol. 16, 454–459.
- Zoethout, C.M., 2013. Ritual slaughter and the freedom of religion: some reflections on a stunning matter. Hum. Rights Q. 35, 651–672.